# LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS BOARD OF TRUSTEES

# LINCOLN BOARD ROOM

215 Seventh Avenue South Lewistown, Montana 59457

# MONDAY, January 9, 2023

# REGULAR BOARD MEETING PAGE 1

Meeting ID

meet.google.com/ccw-qomy-dip

Phone Numbers (US)+1 605-743-0395

PIN: 421 669 826#

# CALL TO ORDER (6:00 p.m.)

- 1. Roll Call
- 2. Pledge of Allegiance
- 3. Motion to Set Agenda
- 4. Presentation Cory Smith, Student Resource Officer
- 5. Discussion Bond Update
- 6. Presentation K-12 Music Curriculum, Rachael Grensten
- 7. Report—Student Representative
- 8. Report—LEA Report
- 9. Report—Committees of the Board
- 10. Calendar Items, Concerns, Correspondence, Etc.

# SUPERINTENDENT'S REPORT

- 11. Report 2021-2022 Audit Report
- 12. Report—Election Information
- 13. Report Budget
- 14. Report--- Investment
- 15. Report---Superintendent

# **PUBLIC PARTICIPATION**

16. Recognition of Parents, Patrons, and Others Who Wish to Address the Board on Non-Agenda Items

### **ACTION ITEMS**

#### **MINUTES**

17. Minutes of the December 7, 2022 Special Board Meeting Minutes of the December 12, 2022 Regular Board Meeting

#### APPROVAL OF CLAIMS

18. Claims

# LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS BOARD OF TRUSTEES

# LINCOLN BOARD ROOM

215 Seventh Avenue South Lewistown, Montana 59457

MONDAY, January 9, 2023

# **REGULAR BOARD MEETING**

# -CONTINUED PAGE 2-

# INDIVIDUAL ITEMS

- 19. Approve pre-approval for ESSER purchases over \$5,000
- 20. Approve Highland Park Roof Bid Award to Empire Roofing
- 21. Action on Offering Retirement Incentive
- 22. Approve Additions to the Substitute List for the 2022-2023 School Year
- 23. Approve Personnel Report

# **EXECUTIVE SESSION**

24. Complete Superintendent's Evaluation

# ADJOURNMENT

A hard copy of the complete Agenda is available at the LPS Central Office Or, on the Lewistown Public Schools Website: http://www.lewistown.k12.mt.us/content/266

# **PUBLIC PARTICIPATION**

The Board of Education encourages participation at public School Board meetings. Under normal circumstances it is desirable to allow everyone to address the Board. However, when there are many persons who wish to address the Board, the following rules shall apply to protect the public's right to be heard:

- Speaker must first be recognized by the Chair and identify him/herself.
- Comments may not infringe on the rights to privacy of another.
- Each speaker shall be allowed a presentation not to exceed three (3) minutes at the appropriate time on the Agenda.
- There will be a limit of one presentation per person.
- The Board requests that organizations and groups be represented by a single spokesperson. The spokesperson for each group shall be limited .to a presentation of three (3) minutes. To save repetition and time, the Board also requests that persons not speak if a previous speaker has expressed a similar position on the same issue.
- Appropriate comments are welcome but no action is likely to be taken at this time to ensure that others have the opportunity to address the same issue also. Items discussed may, at the discretion of the Board, be placed on a later agenda.
- The Board will accept comments from the public on each agenda item as it is discussed.

By a majority vote of the Board, these rules may be suspended for special reasons at any particular meeting. Further, the Board may reserve the right to adjust the length of time.

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09//2023	4
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: PRESENTATION – CORY SMITH, STUDENT RESOURCE OFFI	CER
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Thom Peck	
SUMMARY:	
Cory Smith, Student Recourse Officer will present to the board an update to Safety Protocols and Safety Plan for Lewistown Public Schools. Also, interin Public Schools SRO – Justin Jenness will be introduced.	
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09//2023	5
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: DISCUSSION – BOND UPDATE	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Thom Peck	
SUMMARY:	
Discussion will take place regarding updates and progress being made on th	ie bond.
Discussion win take place regarding aparties and progress being made on the	io sona.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09//2023	6
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	Action – Consent Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: PRESENTATION –RACHAEL GRENSTEN, K-12 MUSIC CURRI	CULUM
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Thom Peck	
SUMMARY:	
Rachael Grensten will present to the board information on the K-12 music of	curriculum.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	7
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORTSTUDENT REPRESENTATIVE	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Elsie Crouse	
SUMMARY:	
Fergus High School Student Representative to the Board of Trustees upcoming activities at Fergus High School.	will provide a report on
The January Regular Board Meeting will be Elsie's last one as Student Kunau is the new Representative who will be recognized at that time.	Representative. Julia
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	8
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—LEWISTOWN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (LEA)	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: LEA Representative	
SUMMARY:	
The Lewistown Education Association (LEA) would like to update the activities and happenings for their organization.	Board of Trustees on the
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	9
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\square$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Committee	
SUMMARY:	
The Board of Trustees has the opportunity to provide updates on their various common trustees has the opportunity to provide updates on their various common trustees.	mittees.
Attached is the list for Standing Committees of the Board for the 2022-2023 School	Year.
• Music Curriculum met on Wednesday, January 4th	
Building and Grounds Committee met on Thursday, January 5th	
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

#### STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

#### 2022-2023 School Year

O - marrietta a	Number	Cl	Whitney	Kris	Zane	Doreen	Phil	Jeff
Committee	on Comm.	Bailey	Brady	Birdwell	Fulbright	Heintz	Koterba	Southworth
Building & Grounds	3	Х					Х	Х
Insurance Risk Committee	2		Х		Х			

# OTHER COMMITTEES WITH BOARD REPRESENTATION

#### 2022-2023 School Year

Committee	Number	CJ	Whitney	Kris	Zane	Doreen	Phil	Jeff
Committee	on Comm.	Bailey	Brady	Birdwell	Fulbright	Heintz	Koterba	Southworth
Activities	3			Х		Х		Х
Curriculum Committees:								
Music	1				Х			
Health Insurance Program	2			Х				х
School Calendar	1				Х			
Vocational Advisory Council	1		Х					
Gaining	3		х	х	X			
Cuming								
Policy Review	3	Х				Х	Х	
Assessment	2			Х		Х		
Classified Salary/Benefit Review	2	Х						Х

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	10
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action – Consent ☐ Action – Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: CALENDAR ITEMS, CONCERNS, CORRESPONDENCE, ETC.	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By:	
SUMMARY:	
Time is provided on the agenda for the Board to discuss calendar item future agenda items, and comments for the good of the district.  OPI Letter – School Safety OPI Letter – Automatic Enrollment through Medicaid for Free/Reduced Mea Day Plans	-
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	_

# BOARD AGENDA ITEM

Agenda Item No.

**Meeting Date** 

01/09/2023
<ul> <li>☐ Minutes/Claims</li> <li>☐ Board of Trustees</li> <li>☐ Superintendent's Report</li> <li>☐ Action - Consent</li> <li>☐ Action - Indiv.</li> </ul>
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—2021-2022 AUDIT RESULTS
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades
SUMMARY:
Paul Strom and Associates completed the audit for FY2021-2022.
Rebekah Rhoades attended the exit interview with Mr. Strom in September and no findings were reported. If the Board has questions, Mr. Strom can be invited to attend an upcoming meeting.
The audit report will be posted in its entirety on the District website as well as a hard copy at the District Business Office for the public to view. A copy of the audit will also be available at the meeting for your convenience.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational Report
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source
NOTES:

# FERGUS COUNTY LEWISTOWN, MONTANA

# FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE REPORT

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Strom & Associates, P. C.

PO BOX 1980 Billings, Montana 59103

# FERGUS COUNTY LEWISTOWN, MONTANA 59457

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page No
TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
ORGANIZATION - BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICIALS	2
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	3 - 8
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	9 - 11
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:	
Statement of Net Position	12
Statement of Activities	13
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds and Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position	14
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds	15
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental Futo the Statement of Activities	
Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds	17
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position – Proprietary Funds	18
Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds	19
Notes to the Financial Statements	20 - 45
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:	
Schedule of Funding Progress – Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions	46
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability	47
Schedule of Contributions to the State of Montana Retirement Systems	48
Notes to the Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions to the State of Montana Retirement Systems	49 - 52
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual – All Budgeted Major Funds	53 - 54
Notes to the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual	55 - 57
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES:	
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Balances - Student Activity Funds	58 - 59
Schedule of Reported Enrollment	60
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards	61
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards	62
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORTS:	
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with <i>Government Auditing Standards</i>	63 - 64
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control over Compliance Required by <i>Uniform Guidance</i>	65 - 66
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS	67

# FERGUS COUNTY LEWISTOWN, MONTANA 59457

# ORGANIZATION

# BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Doreen Heintz	Chair
CJ Bailey	Vice Chair
Phillip Koterba	Trustee
Kris Birdwell	Trustee
Jeff Southworth	Trustee
Whitney Brady	Trustee
Zane Fulbright	Trustee
OFFICIALS	
Thom Peck	Superintendent
Rebekah Rhoades	School District Clerk
Rhonda Long	County Superintendent
Montana School Boards Association (MTSBA)	School District Attorney

# Lewistown Public Schools Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

The Business Manager of the Lewistown Public Schools has provided this MD&A to give the reader of these statements an overview of the financial position and activities of the school district for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

# **Using This Financial Report**

The general format of the report is required by Statement No. 34 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Thus is born the GASB 34 requirement.

# Reporting the School District as a Whole

The report includes two district-wide statements that focus on operations of the district as a whole. These statements measure operations using an economic resources measurement focus and use the accrual basis accounting. Activities that are fiduciary in nature are not included in these statements.

- A. The Statement of Net Position shows "assets" (what is owned), "liabilities" (what is owed), and the "net position" (the resources that would remain if all obligations were settled) of the school district. Some assets are restricted for certain purposes or reserved for emergencies and cash flow purposes. Some assets are invested in "fixed" or "capital" assets, such as buildings, equipment and other long-lived property; and some assets are available to fund budgets of the following year.
- B. The Statement of Activities shows the amounts of program-specific and general school district revenue used to support the school district's various functions.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities divide the activities of the school district into three categories:

<u>Governmental activities</u> – The school functions including instruction, student services, administration, etc. Property taxes, state and federal revenues usually support most of these functions of the district.

<u>Proprietary (business-type) activities</u> – school operations included in this category include IMC, Central Supply Store, and Central Transportation.

# Reporting the District's Most Significant Funds

The fund statements provide detailed information about the funds used by the school district. State law and Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP) established the fund structure of school districts. State law generally requires school districts to segregate money generated for certain purposes, like transportation and debt service, in separate fund accounts.

The fund statements report balances and activities of the most significant or "major" funds separately and combine the activities of less significant funds under a single category. Significance of funds is determined based on the proportional size of the funds, the relative importance of the activities of the funds to the school district's operations, and the existence of legal budget requirements. Internal Service funds are never reported as major funds but are combined and presented in a separate set of financial statements.

#### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

The Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance are shown for governmental funds such as the general funds, special revenue funds for transportation and school food service, and debt service and capital outlay funds. These funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting and represent the majority of the district's activities and programs.

Fund statements include a reconciliation of the governmental fund statements to the district-wide statements. Most significant differences result from the use of different presentation basis. The district-wide statements are presented using the accrual basis of accounting and the fund statements for governmental funds use the modified accrual basis. In addition, general capital assets and general long-term debt are reported in the district-wide statements but not in the fund statements.

# Reporting the District's Trust and Fiduciary Responsibilities

The District is the trustee, or fiduciary, for endowments (including Eveline Eccles and Alweis Scholarships) and the student extracurricular funds.

This report includes the activities in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position because the district cannot use these assets to fund its operation.

The District is responsible for ensuring these assets are used for their intended purpose.

# **Budget-to-Actual Comparisons**

The district consistently reconciles its books monthly.

# THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE

Net Position serves over time as a useful indicator of a school district's financial position. In the Lewistown Public Schools, assets exceeded liabilities by \$7,445,399 as of June 30, 2021. In 2018, the District was required to implement the new OPEB GASB 75 standard for liability accounting of post-employment benefits (non-pension). In 2019, it was required that this be reviewed annually, rather than the every 3 years it was previously. This number, in addition to the required reporting of the TRS and PERS liability that was implemented in 2015, has caused liabilities to appear inflated over the past several years. In 2022, passage of the Elementary Bond and a decrease in the PERS and TRS liability has once again allowed our assets to exceed our liabilities.

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

# **Lewistown Public Schools Condensed Statement of Net Position**

# Governmental Activities

	<b>FY2021</b>	FY2022
Current and other assets	7,356,295	31,686,441
Capital assets	10,834,093	11,278,592
<b>Total Assets</b>	18,190,388	42,965,033
Current liabilities	111,354	89,911
Non-current liabilities	19,022,824	35,429,723
<b>Total Liabilities</b>	19,143,178	35,519,634
Invested in capital assets,		
Net of debt	10,834,093	(12,628,216)
Restricted	4,833,754	28,678,754
Unrestricted	(14,211,048)	(14,292,303)
<b>Total Net Position</b>	1,456,799	1,758,235

# **Lewistown Public Schools Changes in Net Position**

# Governmental Activities

# GENERAL REVENUES

GENERAL REVENUES		
	<b>FY2021</b>	<b>FY2022</b>
District Levy	4,461,575	4,524,402
State Equalization	3,708,832	3,742,041
Other State Revenue	3,296,928	3,336,716
County	1,263,320	1,288,170
Federal	0	0
Investment Earning	49,224	54,955
Gain on Asset	11,565	63,273
Other	<u>87,235</u>	213,411
<b>Total General Revenue</b>	16,673,229	12,878,681
GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS		
GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS Instruction (includes OPEB)	9,274,372	8,657,127
	9,274,372 412,290	8,657,127 451,895
Instruction (includes OPEB)		
Instruction (includes OPEB) Support - Students	412,290	451,895
Instruction (includes OPEB) Support - Students Support - Instructional	412,290 741,239	451,895 503,712
Instruction (includes OPEB) Support - Students Support - Instructional Administration	412,290 741,239 2,253,759	451,895 503,712 2,576,083
Instruction (includes OPEB) Support - Students Support - Instructional Administration O & M	412,290 741,239 2,253,759 2,172,423	451,895 503,712 2,576,083 1,837,271
Instruction (includes OPEB) Support - Students Support - Instructional Administration O & M Transportation	412,290 741,239 2,253,759 2,172,423 926,268	451,895 503,712 2,576,083 1,837,271 1,039,087

#### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Community Services	17,394	2,312
Intergovernmental	90,639	132,106
Interest and Other Charges	0	0
Depreciation – unallocated	292,307	309,555
<b>Total Operations</b>	17,732,093	17,140,315

#### **Capital Assets**

As of June 30, 2022, the District had invested over \$11 million in capital assets including land and land improvements, buildings and improvements, and machinery and equipment. General fixed assets are reported at historical cost. Historical cost was established at the initial booking of fixed assets by determining actual costs or estimating using standard costing procedure. The District's fixed asset policy is set to include items of \$5,000 and a useful life in excess of one year. The following schedule presents capital balances with accumulated depreciation as of June 30th.

Land and Improvements Accumulated Depreciation	FY2021 2,053,551 (1,090,804) 962,747	FY2022 2,205,484 (1,133,137) 1,072,347
Buildings and Improvements Construction in Progress Accumulated Depreciation	16,679,806 0 (8,781,710) 7,898,096	16,874,221 446,317 (9,322,776) 7,997,762
Machinery and Equipment Accumulated Depreciation	4,979,501 (3,016,249) 1,963,252	5,485,674 (3,277,190) 2,208,484

#### The District's Future

State law enables districts to use three-year average or current year enrollment (whichever is higher) when calculating budgets. Over the past five years, enrollment has remained fairly steady in the elementary. In the high school district, we saw a decrease in enrollment until 2021 where enrollment has now been increasing and is back to levels seen in 2016. Due to these recent increases, we will be utilizing the current year ANB for budget calculations.

There continues to be a growing need for services for special needs students, and for the first time in years, Legislature provide a slight increase in assistance from the State. Legislature has allowed a permissive levy for high needs students, but this puts more stress on the local taxpayers so must be used thoughtfully. The current Lewistown Collective Bargaining Agreement extends through FY26, so we will be better able to predict our certified salary expenses in advance. While the new matrix may help us with recruitment and retention, we must also be prepared for the budgetary challenges that could come as a result. Over the past several years, we have had several retirements, causing the demographics of the District to change to a younger population. The start of the 2021-22 school year saw the most hiring we have ever seen at the start of a school year and some difficulty in filling positions, and we continued with this trend in 2022-23.

#### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

The district also faces other challenges and decisions including:

- The Lewistown Board of Trustees ran an Elementary and High School Bond Election in November 2021. While the Elementary Bond Election passed, the High School Bond Levy failed. Trustees will need to consider how to address safety/security, mechanical, roofing and other concerns in the high school district and the possibility of placing another High School Bond Election in front of the voters.
- The Lewistown Board of Trustees chose to run an Elementary Levy in May of 2022 that ultimately failed. While this may have come as a result of the Bond Election passing in November, the Board will need to consider running an additional levy in May of 2023 and how that need will be communicated to the community. In addition, recent Legislative decisions have "shifted" some of the costs of education to the local taxpavers in the form of non-voted levies. The intent to increase these levies is now required to be posted and advertised to the public each year in March. The Board will need to continue to be diligent in their consideration of both voted and non-voted levies in the future.
- The District estimates that general building repairs and maintenance in excess of \$10 million will be necessary over the next several years. Both an Elementary and High School Building Reserve Levy passed in May 2016, helping to support the needs of upkeep of the District's facilities. In 2017, Legislature added the ability to "permissively" levy in the Building Reserve Fund. Since 2020, the Board has used this new authority and is taking advantage of the matching State dollars. As mentioned above, the Elementary District passed a Bond election in November 2021 to address facility needs in the district.
- Safety has become top priority in many Districts, ours being no exception. In the 2019 Legislature, the "permissive" Building Reserve Fund Levy was expanded to include the ability to use those funds for building safety, School Resource Officers and Counselors. With these funds being open to both Facility and Safety purposes, the Board may have to choose which takes higher priority. There is also the ability to run a voted Safety Levy, but the Board has yet to consider that option.
- The ever-increasing use of technology in the classrooms has put a financial dilemma upon the District. Currently, both the Elementary and High School have permanent levies in place. The Elementary yearly levy is \$61,498 and the High School's is \$54,165, not enough to keep all technology within the District up to date. Due to changes in state law, if additional funds are requested of voters, the levy may not exceed 10 years. The Board will need to determine if nonpermanent Technology Levy request will need to be presented to voters in the future. Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, we were given additional funds in 2019-20, 2020-21 and 2021-22 that will allow us to purchase technology equipment and take some immediate pressure off of the Technology Levy.
- The Coronavirus Pandemic that closed schools in March 2020 has created its own unique challenges. As of June 30, 2022, the District spent both the Governor's Coronavirus Relief Funds and ESSER I Funds (total of \$778,049) in response to the pandemic. In addition, \$959,765 in ESSER II and \$467,719 in ESSER III Funds have been expended. As a District, it is important that we use the funds we are given wisely and consider how to use those funds to assist us in the future, not just in the moment.

### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

In the end, all of the District's finances come down to how effectively we are educating our children with the resources that we have. We must continue to keep our focus on our students' education and allocate our resources in the manner that best serves them. The pandemic has increased the challenges we face, both budgetary and in determining how to meet the needs of stu-

# **Contact for Additional Information**

If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Business Manager at the Lewistown Public Schools, 215 7<sup>th</sup> Avenue South, Lewistown, MT 59457, (406)-535-8777 x1116.

# STROM & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants

3203 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave N. Suite 208 PO Box 1980 Billings, MT 59103

Phone: 406-252-2765 E-mail: audit@stromcpa.net

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Trustees Lewistown School District No. 1 Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

#### Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

#### **Opinions**

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise School District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the School District, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles accepted in the United States of America.

#### Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the School District, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

#### Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the School District's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

- exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School District's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- concluding whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the School District's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those in charge of governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

#### Change in Accounting Principle Applicable for FY 2022 audits

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2022, Lewistown School District No. 1 adopted GASB Statement No. GASB Statement No. 87 – *Leases* which resulted in a restatement of the net position as of July 1, 2021. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

#### Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the Untied States of America require that the Management's Discussion and Analysis (pages 3-8), the Schedule of Funding Progress - Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (page 46), the Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions to Montana Retirement Systems (pages 47-52), and the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (pages 53-57) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential park of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively School District's basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Balances - Student Activity Funds (page 58-59), and Schedule of Reported Enrollment (page 60), and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (pages 61-62) as required by *Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and related directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Balances - Student Activity Funds, and Schedule of Reported Enrollment, and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

# Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 20, 2022 on our consideration of the School District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School District's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the School District 's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC

Strom : associates, P.C.

Billings, Montana December 20, 2022

### STATEMENT OF NET POSITION June 30, 2022

		vernmental
ACCEPTO		Activities
ASSETS: Current Assets:		
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$	30,732,465
Taxes Receivable	Ψ	118,863
Due from Other Governments		698,816
Other Current Assets		4,078
Inventories		36,465
Lease Related Receivable		95,754
Total Current Assets		31,686,441
Noncurrent Assets:		
Capital Assets:		
Land		590,530
Construction in Progress		446,317
Net Depreciable Assets		10,241,745
Total Noncurrent Assets		11,278,592
Total Assets		42,965,033
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:		
Employer Pension Plan Related		1,922,359
Other Postemployment Benefits Related		21,931
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources		1,944,290
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources	\$	44,909,323
LIABILITIES:		
Current Liabilities:		
Unearned Revenue	\$	19,453
Current Portion of Compensated Absences		54,858
Current Portion of Long-term Capital Obligations		15,600
Total Current Liabilities		89,911
Noncurrent Liabilities:		
Compensated Absences		387,255
Net Pension Accrual		8,676,980
Other Postemployment Benefits		2,474,280
Long-term Capital Debt Obligations		20,400,000
Premium on General Obligation Bonds		3,491,208
Total Noncurrent Liabilities		35,429,723
Total Liabilities		35,519,634
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:		
Employer Pension Plan Related		3,161,710
Other Postemployment Benefits Related		4,373,990
Lease Related	-	95,754
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources		7,631,454
NET POSITION:		(10.600.01
Net Investment in Capital Assets		(12,628,216)
Restricted Liprostricted (Deficit)		28,678,754
Unrestricted (Deficit)	-	(14,292,303)
Total Net Position	Φ.	1,758,235
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position	\$	44,909,323

The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.

# STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

					Pro	gram Revenues		, ,	penses) Revenues ges in Net Position
			_					Prima	ry Government
		Г		Charge for		Operating Grants and	Capital Grants and	Go	overnmental
GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS:		Expenses		Services	(	Contributions	Contributions		Activities
Instructional Services	\$	8,657,127	\$	10.222	¢.	1,586,837	¢.	\$	(7,050,958)
	2		3	19,332	Э		5 -	\$	( ' ' '
Support Services - Students Support Services - Instructional		451,895		-		110,281	-		(341,614)
General Administrative Services		503,712		107.701		120,466	-		(383,246)
		2,576,083		187,781		201,289	110.074		(2,187,013)
Operation and Maintenance Services		1,837,271		14,867		436,857	110,074		(1,275,473)
Transportation Services		1,039,087		-		138,311	53,997		(846,779)
School Food Services		849,350		40,665		762,392	-		(46,293)
Extracurricular		781,817		433,569		-	-		(348,248)
Community Services		2,312		-		-	-		(2,312)
Intergovernmental		132,106		-		-	-		(132,106)
Unallocated Depreciation Expense *		309,555	_		_				(309,555)
Total Governmental Operations		17,140,315	_	696,214		3,356,433	164,071		(12,923,597)
GENERAL REVENUES:									
District Levies									4,524,402
State Equalization									3,742,041
Other State Revenues									3,336,716
County									1,288,170
Interest									54,955
Other									213,411
Gain (loss) on Sale of Assets									63,273
Total General Revenues									13,222,968
Total General Revenues									13,222,908
Change in Net Position									299,371
NET POSITION:									
Beginning of the Year									1,456,799
Prior Period Adjustments									2,065
End of the Year								\$	1,758,235

<sup>\*</sup> Excludes depreciation included in direct expenses of the various functions

### BALANCE SHEET GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS June 30, 2022

	MAJOR					•				
		General		Miscellaneous Programs (Elem)		Building (Elem)	G	Other overnmental Funds	C	Total Fovernmental Funds
ASSETS:										
Current Assets: Cash and Cash Equivalents Taxes Receivable	\$	2,902,264 77,162	\$	42,107	\$	23,479,499	\$	4,204,565 41,701	\$	30,628,435 118,863
Due from Other Governments Other Current Assets Inventories		4,073		681,671		-		17,145 5 36,465		698,816 4,078 36,465
Lease Related Receivable Total Assets		2,983,499	_	723,778		23,479,499		95,754 4,395,635		95,754 31,582,411
		2,703,477	_	123,776	-	25,475,455		4,575,055		31,302,411
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES: Total Deferred Outflows of Resources		-		-		_		-		-
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources	\$	2,983,499	\$	723,778	\$	23,479,499	\$	4,395,635	\$	31,582,411
LIABILITIES: Current Liabilities:										
Unearned Revenue	\$		\$		\$		\$	19,453	\$	19,453
Total Liabilities	_		_		_			19,453	_	19,453
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES: Unavailable Property Taxes Receivable		77,162		-		-		41,701		118,863
Lease Related Total Deferred Inflows of Resources	_	77,162	_		-			95,754 137,455	_	95,754 214,617
FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS): Nonspendable Restricted		195,049 5,109		723,778		23,479,499		36,465 4,202,262		36,465 28,600,588
Assigned Unassigned		2,706,179	_	<u>-</u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		5,109 2,706,179
Total Fund Balance		2,906,337	_	723,778		23,479,499		4,238,727		31,348,341
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances	\$	2,983,499	\$	723,778	\$	23,479,499	\$	4,395,635	\$	31,582,411
RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION	ON									
Total Fund Balance Reported Above Internal Service Fund Net Position Unavailable Property Taxes Receivable Governmental Capital Assets Employer Pension Plan Related Other Postemployment Benefits Related Long-term Liabilities									\$	31,348,341 104,030 118,863 11,278,592 1,922,359 21,931
Long-term Capital Obligations Compensated Absences Premium on General Obligation Bonds Net Pension Accrual Other Postemployment Benefits Employer Pension Plan Related Other Postemployment Benefits Related										(20,415,600) (442,113) (3,491,208) (8,676,980) (2,474,280) (3,161,710) (4,373,990)
Net Position of Governmental Activities									\$	1,758,235

The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

		MAJOR			•			
	General	Miscellaneous Programs (Elem)		Building (Elem)		Other Governmental Funds		Total overnmental Funds
REVENUES:								
District Levies	\$ 2,940,788	\$ -	\$	-	\$	1,602,474	\$	4,543,262
Interest	9,321	_		32,207		13,427		54,955
Charges for Services	187,781	-		_		508,433		696,214
Other	71,814	62,259		-		79,338		213,411
County	_	-		-		1,355,419		1,355,419
State	7,121,930	36,401		_		205,469		7,363,800
Federal	-	1,763,709		-		891,101		2,654,810
Total Revenues	10,331,634	1,862,369		32,207		4,655,661		16,881,871
EXPENDITURES:								
Current:	5 500 060	1 070 541				1 120 111		5.512.045
Instructional Services	5,502,863	1,079,541		-		1,130,441		7,712,845
Support Services - Students	263,308	94,537		-		93,587		451,432
Support Services - Instructional	265,309	120,617		-		104,147		490,073
General Administrative Services	2,041,524	66,385		-		373,059		2,480,968
Operation and Maintenance Services	1,225,268	221,874		-		130,274		1,577,416
Transportation Services	39,173	6,048		-		700,552		745,773
School Food Services	128,656	3,477		-		708,988		841,121
Extracurricular	257,651	-		-		483,527		741,178
Community Services	158	2,121		-		33		2,312
Capital Outlay	135,989	194,031		446,317		648,571		1,424,908
Intergovernmental	 82,930	49,176		<u> </u>				132,106
Total Expenditures	 9,942,829	1,837,807	_	446,317		4,373,179		16,600,132
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues								
Over Expenditures	 388,805	24,562	_	(414,110)		282,482		281,739
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):								
Sale of Capital Assets	28,950	363		-		35,485		64,798
Sale of Bonds	-	_		23,891,208		-		23,891,208
Fund Transfers In	_	_		-		207		207
Fund Transfers (Out)	_	_		-		(207)		(207)
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses)	28,950	363		23,891,208		35,485		23,956,006
Net Change in Fund Balance	417,755	24,925		23,477,098		317,967		24,237,745
FUND BALANCE:								
Beginning of the Year	1,479,952	699,018		2,401		4,927,160		7,108,531
Prior Period Adjustments	1,008,630	(165)		2,701		(1,006,400)		2,065
End of the Year	\$ 2,906,337	\$ 723,778	\$	23,479,499	\$	4,238,727	\$	31,348,341

Lewistown SD Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

# RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Net Changes in Fund Balance	\$	24,237,745
Change in Net Position from Internal Service Funds		16,264
Revenues on the Statement of Activities not Included in Governmental Funds		
Statement:		
Increase (Decrease) in Taxes Receivable	(18,860)	
State Pension Aid	513,402	494,542
Revenues Reported in the Governmental Funds Statement not Included in the		
Statement of Activities		
Bond and/or Note Proceeds	23,891,208	
Sale of Capital Assets	64,798	(23,956,006)
Expenses on the Statement of Activities not Included in the Governmental Funds		
Statement:		
Depreciation Expense	(978,884)	
Actuarial Pension Expense	(244,879)	
Retirement Incentive	19,500	
(Increase) Decrease in Other Postemployment Benefits	(785,589)	
(Increase) Decrease in Compensated Absence Liability	8,497	(1,981,355)
Expenditures Reported in the Governmental Funds Statement not Included in the		
Statement of Activities		
Capital Outlays	1,424,908	
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets	63,273	1,488,181
Change in net Position Reported on the Statement of Activities	<u>\$</u>	299,371

# STATEMENT OF NET POSITION PROPRIETARY FUNDS June 30, 2022

	Governmental
	Activities -
	Internal Service
ASSETS:	
Current Assets:	
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 104,030
Total Current Assets	104,030
Noncurrent Assets:	
Capital Assets:	
Net Depreciable Assets	<u>-</u> _
Total Noncurrent Assets	-
Total Assets	104,030
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES: Total Deferred Outflows of Resources	-
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources	\$ 104,030
LIABILITIES: Current Liabilities: Total Current Liabilities	<u>\$</u> _
Noncurrent Liabilities: Total Noncurrent Liabilities	_
Total Liabilities	
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES: Total Deferred Inflows of Resources	<u>-</u>
NET POSITION: Net Investment in Capital Assets	-
Unrestricted (Deficit)	104,030
Total Net Position	104,030
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position	\$ 104,030

Lewistown SD Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION PROPRIETARY FUNDS For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

	Governmental
	Activities -
	Internal Service
OPERATING REVENUES:	
Charges for Services	\$ 146,270
Total Operating Revenues	146,270
Total operating to remain	
OPERATING EXPENSES:	
Personal Services	130,006
Total Operating Expense	130,006
Operating Income (Loss)	16,264
Change in Net Position	16,264
NET POSITION:	0==66
Beginning of the Year	87,766
End of the Year	\$ 104,030

Lewistown School District No. 1 Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

### STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS PROPRIETARY FUNDS For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

	A	vernmental ctivities - rnal Service
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Receipts from Customers Payments to Employees	\$	146,270 (130,006)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities		16,264
CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-capital Financing Activities		
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities		<u>-</u>
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities		
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents		16,264
BALANCE: Beginning of the Year End of the Year	\$	87,766 104,030
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	C	16 264
Operating Income (Loss)	\$	16,264
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities	\$	16,264

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

#### 1. a. REPORTING ENTITY

The basic financial statements of the Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District) have been prepared on a prescribed basis of accounting that demonstrates compliance with the accounting and budget laws of the State of Montana (Montana), which conforms to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), as applied to governmental units. The School District applies all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements, which is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

At the end of fiscal year 2022, the School District adopted the following GASB Statements:

- GASB Statement No. 87 Leases. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments' financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021.
- GASB Statement No. 97 Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting For Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans—An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a Suppression of GASB Statement No. 32. This Statement (a) clarifies how the absence of a governing board should be considered in determining whether a primary government is financially accountable for purposes of evaluating potential component units and (b) modifies the applicability of certain component unit criteria as they relate to defined contribution pension plans, defined contribution other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plans, and other employee benefit plans (for example, certain Section 457 plans). This Statement also establishes accounting and financial reporting requirements for Section 457 plans that meet the definition of a pension plan and for benefits provided through those plans and modifies the investment valuation requirements for all Section 457 plans. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021 and some elements are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021.
- GASB Statement No. 98 The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. This Statement establishes the term annual comprehensive financial report and its acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances of comprehensive annual financial report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles for state and local governments. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021.
- GASB Statement No. 99 OMNIBUS 2022. This Statement provided for the following elements the School District could address:
  - Extension of the period during which the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is considered an appropriate benchmark interest rate for the qualitative evaluation of the effectiveness of an interest rate swap that hedges the interest rate risk of taxable debt
  - Accounting for the distribution of benefits as part of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)
  - o Disclosures related to nonmonetary transactions
  - Pledges of future revenues when resources are not received by the pledging government
  - Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, as amended, related to the focus of the government-wide financial statements
  - Terminology updates related to certain provisions of Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
  - o Terminology used in Statement 53 to refer to resource flows statements.

The School District determined these elements of the Statement do not significantly affect its financial reporting.

The following is a listing of GASB Statements which have been issued and the School District's assessment of effects to the financial statements when implemented.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

- GASB Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. This Statement establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for subscription based information technology arrangements by a government end user (a government). At the commencement of the subscription term, a government should recognize a subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use asset (a capital asset hereinafter referred to as the subscription asset). The requirements of this Statement are effective for <u>fiscal years beginning after</u> June 15, 2022. The School District plans to implement this Statement once it has identified how it affects the School District and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement.
- GASB Statement No. 99 OMNIBUS 2022. This Statement provided for the following, which have not been implemented:
  - Classification and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, which do not meet the definition of either an investment derivative instrument or a hedging derivative instrument.
    - The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022. The School District plans to implement this Statement once it has identified how it affects the School District and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement.
  - Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended, related to the determination of the lease term, classification of a lease as a short-term lease, recognition and measurement of a lease liability and a lease asset, and identification of lease incentives
  - Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements, related to (a) the determination of the public-private and public-public partnership (LEWIS-TOWN) term and (b) recognition and measurement of installment payments and the transfer of the underlying LEWISTOWN asset
  - Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, related to the subscription-based information technology arrangement (SBITA) term, classification of a SBITA as a shortterm SBITA, and recognition and measurement of a subscription liability
    - The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023. The School District plans to implement this Statement once it has identified how it affects the School District and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement.
- GASB Statement No. 100 Accounting Changes And Error Corrections An Amendment Of GASB Statement NO. 62. This Statement defines accounting changes as changes in accounting principles, changes in accounting estimates, and changes to or within the financial reporting entity and describes the transactions or other events that constitute those changes. As part of those descriptions, for (1) certain changes in accounting principles and (2) certain changes in accounting estimates that result from a change in measurement methodology, a new principle or methodology should be justified on the basis that it is preferable to the principle or methodology used before the change. That preferability should be based on the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting—understandability, reliability, relevance, timeliness, consistency, and comparability. This Statement also addresses corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023. The School District plans to implement this Statement once it has identified how it affects the School District and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement.
- GASB Statement No. 101 *COMPENSATED ABSENCES*. This Statement requires that liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means. Leave is attributable to services already rendered when an employee has performed the services required to earn the leave. Leave that accumulates is carried forward from the reporting period in which it is earned to a future reporting period during which it may be used for time off or otherwise paid or settled. In estimating the leave that is more likely than not to be used or otherwise paid or settled, a government should consider relevant factors such as employment policies related to compensated absences and historical information about the use or payment of compensated absences. However, leave that is more likely than not to be settled through conversion to defined benefit postemployment benefits should not be included in a liability for compensated absences. This Statement also addresses corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The School District plans to implement this Statement once it has identified how it affects the School District and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement.

<u>Services Provided</u>: The School District consists of two legally separate entities, an elementary district which provides education for kindergarten through eighth grade and a high school district which provides education for ninth through twelfth grade. For financial reporting purposes the two school districts are combined because they are controlled by the same central Board of Trustees and managed by the same administration. The Board of Trustees is elected by the public and has the authority to make decisions, appoint administrators and managers, and significantly influence operations. GAAP requires only one general fund for each reporting entity, so the elementary and high school General funds are combined in the accompanying financial statements.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Incorporation: The School District was incorporated under the laws of Montana and as required by GAAP, the financial statements of the reporting entity include those of the School District (the primary government) and any component units. The criteria for including organizations as component units within the School District's reporting entity are set forth in Section 2100 of the GASB Codification of Government Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards. The basic criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, as well as the School District's ability to impose its will on that organization, or the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefit to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the School District. Based on those criteria, the School District has no component units.

#### 1. b. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING

#### 1. b. 1. GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements include the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. The governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental funds and internal service funds, (primary government). Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds.

The government-wide financial statements report using the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting and generally include the elimination of internal activity between or within funds. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized in the year for which they are levied while grants are recognized when grantor eligibility requirements are met.

Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental activities column.

The Statement of Activities reports the direct expenses of a given governmental function offset by program revenues directly connected with the functional program. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a function. Program revenues include:

- Charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function
- Operating and Capital grants that are restricted to a particular function.

Property taxes, investment earnings, state entitlement payments, and other revenue sources not properly included with program revenue are reported as general revenues. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-supporting or drawing from general revenues.

#### 1. b. 2. FUND ACCOUNTING

The fund financial statements provide information about the government's funds. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The School District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and proprietary— are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and reported as non-major funds. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. With this measurement focus, only current assets, current liabilities, and fund balance are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds present net increases and decreases in current assets. Revenues are recorded when they are both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period – collections that occur after June 30 are generally not material. Unavailable income is recorded in governmental funds for delinquent taxes. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for compensated absence payments which are recognized when due. Capital assets are functional expenditures in governmental funds, and proceeds from long-term debt or capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Revenues from local sources consist primarily of property taxes. Property tax revenue and revenues received from Montana are recognized when susceptible to accrual. Miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they are generally not measurable until actually received. Investment earnings are recorded as earned since they are measurable and available. Cost reimbursement grant funds are considered to be both measurable and available to the extent the related expenditures were made under the provisions of the grant. When such funds are received before the expenditure was incurred, they are recorded as unearned grant revenues. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the School District.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

<u>Proprietary fund financial statements</u> use the economic resources measurement focus and are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the dental self-insurance internal service fund is charges to employees and the School District for services. Operating expenses for internal service funds include the cost of dental care services and administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

<u>Major fund determination</u> – GASB Statement No. 34 requires the General fund be reported as a major fund and that only one General fund be reported. As such, the elementary and high school General funds have been combined and are reported as one major fund. Other individual governmental funds should be reported in separate columns as major funds based on these criteria:

• Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures of that individual governmental fund are at least 10% of the corresponding total (assets, liabilities, etc.) for all funds of that category or type (e.g., total governmental funds).

The School District reports the following major governmental funds:

- General Fund The General fund is the general operating fund of the School District and accounts for all revenues and expenditures of the School District not encompassed within other funds. All general tax revenues and other receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures and the capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. In the governmental fund financial statements, the General fund also includes the activities of the elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve funds, high school Interlocal Agreement fund, and the elementary and high school Flexibility funds since the restrictions on those funds are similar to the General fund.
- <u>Elementary Miscellaneous Fund</u> This fund is used to account for local, state, and federal grants and reimbursements.
   Also, donations that allow the expenditure of both principal and interest for support of School District programs are deposited in this fund.
- <u>Elementary Building Fund</u> This fund is used to account for financing voter approved building or construction projects funded with School mill levies, which includes raising money for the future construction, equipping, or enlarging of school buildings and for the purpose of purchasing land for school purposes in the School District.

#### 1. b. 3. OTHER FUND TYPES

### Proprietary Fund Types

<u>Internal Service Funds</u> – These funds account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department to other
departments of the School District, on a cost reimbursement basis. The fund includes a self-insured dental insurance fund.
Because all of the services predominately benefit governmental rather than business type functions, they are included with
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

#### 1. c. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION (FUND BALANCE)

## 1. c. 1 CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Allowable Depositories – Cash includes amounts in demand deposits, as well as short-term investments as authorized by Montana statutes. Montana Code Annotated (MCA) allows Montana local governments to invest public money not necessary for immediate use in:

- United States government treasury bills, notes, or bonds
- Certain United States treasury obligations
- United States government security money market fund, if investments consist of those listed above
- Time or savings deposits with a bank or credit union which is Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or National Credit Union Association insured
- Repurchase agreements as authorized by MCA
- State of Montana Short-Term Investment Pool (STIP)

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Interest earned on the pooled investments is distributed to each contributing entity and fund on a pro rata basis. Investments are recorded at fair market value.

<u>Clearing Funds</u> – Warrants written but not redeemed are reported in the School District's payroll and claims clearing funds. However, for financial reporting purposes, these are treated as a cash reconciling items. Cash in the accounting system is held for warrants which were written but have not been paid by the Fergus County (County) Treasurer. A warrant is an order by which the drawer (the person with authority to make the order) directs the School District trustee to pay a particular sum of money to a payee (person or entity) from funds in the School District treasury which are or may become available.

<u>County Investment Pool Collateral</u> – Information regarding the collateral and security for cash held by County is not available to the School District. However, Montana statutes require United States government securities be held as collateral to secure deposits of public funds in excess of FDIC insurance. The external investment pool is audited as part of the County's financial statements. This investment pool is not registered with or monitored by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

<u>Statement of Cash Flows</u> – For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the School District considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

#### 1. c. 2. TAXES

<u>Property Tax Levies</u> – Property tax levies are set in connection with the budget process and are based on taxable values listed as of January 1 for all property located in the School District. Taxable values are established by the Montana Department of Revenue based on market values. A revaluation of all property is required to be completed on a periodic basis. Taxable value is defined by Montana statute as a fixed percentage of market value.

<u>Collections</u> – Property taxes are collected by the County Treasurer, who credits to the School District funds its respective share of the collections. Tax levies are collectible in two installments, which become delinquent after November 30 and May 31. After a period of three years, the County may begin foreclosure proceedings and sell the property at auction.

<u>Delinquency</u> – Unpaid property taxes are liens on the property being taxed. Taxes that become delinquent are charged interest at the rate of 5/6 of 1% per month plus a penalty of 2%. After a period of three years, the County may begin foreclosure proceedings and sell real property at auction. In the case of personal property, the property may be seized and sold after the taxes become delinquent. The School District receives its share of the sale proceeds of any such auction.

#### 1. c. 3. RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable represent the amounts the School District expects to receive for providing goods or services delivered or used but not yet paid for by customers or amounts due from governmental agencies for costs incurred but not yet reimbursed. All receivables are current and therefore due within one year.

#### 1. c. 4. INVENTORIES

Materials, food inventory, and supplies inventory are carried in an inventory account at average cost and are subsequently charged to expenditures when consumed (using the consumption method) rather than when purchased.

#### 1. c. 5. CAPITAL ASSETS

The School District's property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost and comprehensively reported in the government-wide financial statements. Historical cost was established when the capital assets were initially recorded by determining the actual cost or estimating the cost using standard costing procedures. The School District considers capital assets to be items with a historical cost in excess of \$5,000 and with a useful life in excess of one year. The costs of normal maintenance and repair are not capitalized. Depreciation on capital assets is provided over their estimated useful lives on the straight-line method. Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The useful life of depreciable assets has been estimated as follows:

Capital Asset Classes	Useful Life
Buildings	7 – 50 years
Improvements Other than Buildings	20 years
Machinery and Equipment	5-25 years

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 1. c. 6. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

In addition to assets, the Statement of Financial Position reports a separate section for Deferred Outflows of Resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and, as such, will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (e.g., expense/expenditure) until that time.

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Financial Position reports a separate section for Deferred Inflows of Resources. This separate financial statement element represents an increase to net position that applies to a future period(s) and, as such, will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (e.g., revenue) until that time.

<u>Pension Liability – Deferred Outflows and Inflows</u> – The School District recognizes a net pension liability for each qualified pension plan in which it participates. Changes in the net pension liability during the fiscal year are recorded as pension expense, deferred inflows of resources, or deferred outflows of resources depending on the nature of the change and the period incurred. Those changes in net pension liability that are recorded as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources that arise from changes in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and differences between expected or actual experience are amortized over the weighted average remaining service life of all participants in the respective qualified pension plan and recorded as a component of pension expense beginning with the period in which they are incurred. Projected earnings on qualified pension plan investments are recognized as a component of pension expense. Differences between projected and actual investment earnings are reported as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources and amortized as a component of pension expense.

Other Postemployment Benefits Liability – Deferred Outflows and Inflows – The School District recognizes a net pension liability for each OPEB liability plan participant. Changes in OPEB relate to differences between estimated and actual investment earnings, changes in actuarial assumptions, and other OPEB related changes.

<u>Property Taxes – Deferred Inflows</u> – The School District reports deferred inflows under the modified accrual basis of accounting in the governmental funds for property taxes. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. In the governmental fund Balance Sheet, they are reported as unavailable from property taxes receivable.

<u>Lease Related – Deferred Inflows</u> - The School District recognizes a lease related receivable when the right to use the underlying nonfinancial asset occurs. A lease receivable for the amount of the lease contract is reported and a deferred inflow of resources. The lease receivable represents the present value of the future lease payments and the deferred inflow of resources represents the value of the lease receivable plus: other payments received or paid to or on behalf of the lessee at or before the inception of the lease.

#### 1. c. 7. VACATION AND SICK LEAVE

<u>Vacation Leave</u> — Classified School District\_employees accumulate vacation and sick leave for later use or for payment upon termination, death, or retirement. Classified School District employees earn vacation leave at the rate of 15 days per year during the first 10 years of employment and at increasing rates thereafter to a maximum of 24 days per year after 20 years of employment. There is no requirement that vacation leave be taken, but the maximum permissible accumulation is the amount earned in the most recent two-year period. Excess vacation time is not forfeited if taken within 90 calendar days from the last day of the calendar year in which the excess was accrued, unless management ensures the employee will use the excess vacation leave before the end of the calendar year in which the leave would have been forfeited. At termination, employees are paid for any accumulated vacation leave at the current rate of pay.

<u>Sick Leave</u> – Classified School District employees earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month. There is no limit on the accumulation of unused sick leave. At termination, 25% of accumulated sick leave is paid at the employee's current rate of pay.

<u>Certified Employee Staff</u> – Certified School District employees accrue 10 days of discretionary leave at the beginning of each year. Unused discretionary leave is accruable to 160 days per employee. After eight consecutive years of employment with the School District, certified employees who terminate employment shall be paid a lump sum of 30% of their accumulated discretionary leave at their current rate of pay.

Reporting – Liabilities incurred because of unused vacation and sick leave accumulated by employees are reflected in the financial statements. Expenditures for unused leave are recorded when paid in governmental funds. Expenses are accrued when earned on the Statement of Activities. At June 30, 2022, the amount expected to be paid within one year related to governmental activities amounted to \$54,858 and is generally paid out of the General fund.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 1. c. 8. NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCE

The Statement of Net Position includes the following:

- <u>Net Investment in Capital Assets</u> This component of net position is comprised of the difference between capital assets
  less both the accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balance of debt that is directly attributable to the acquisition,
  construction, or improvement of these capital assets.
- Restricted This component of net position is restricted externally by creditors (e.g., debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
- <u>Unrestricted</u> This component of net position is difference between the assets and liabilities that are not reported in the other components of net position.

Governmental fund financial statements include the following fund balances:

- <u>Nonspendable</u> This balance includes amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in a spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints.
- Restricted This balance includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by the constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation.
- <u>Assigned</u> This balance includes amounts management has set aside for a specific purpose. This includes the executing of
  a purchase order for a specific purpose such as an encumbrance.
- <u>Unassigned</u> This balance includes amounts that are available for any purpose. These amounts are reported only in the General fund.

At June 30, 2022, fund balance components other than unassigned fund balance were as follows:

Purpose		ıspendable	]	Restricted	A	ssigned
Instructional and Support Services		0	\$	240,344	\$	5,109
Operations and Maintenance		0		52,350		0
Student Transportation		0		299,542		0
Extracurricular		0		185,436		0
School Food		36,465		204,778		0
Third Party Grantor Restrictions		0		1,053,431		0
Employer Retirement Benefits		0		448,420		0
Future Technology		0		433,202		0
Future Capital Costs	-	0		25,683,085		0
Total	\$	36,465	\$ :	28,600,588	\$	5,109

When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available, the School District considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When expenditures are incurred and assigned or unassigned fund balances are available, the School District considers amounts to have been spent first out of assigned and then unassigned funds as needed, unless the Board of Trustees has provided otherwise.

#### 1. d. OTHER

#### 1. d. 1. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### 1. d. 2. COUNTY PROVIDED SERVICES

The School District is provided various financial services by the County. The County also serves as cashier and treasurer for the School District for tax and assessment collections and other revenues received by the County which are subject to distribution to the various taxing jurisdictions located in the County. The collections made by the County on behalf of the School District are accounted for in a fiduciary fund in the School District's name. No service charges have been recorded by the School District or the County.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS

At June 30, 2022, cash and cash equivalents for governmental activities were as follows:

## Governmental Activities \$ 30,732,465

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying amounts of cash on hand, deposits, and investments at June 30, 2022 were as follows:

Account Type	Amount
Demand Accounts	\$ 289,466
County Investment Pool	30,442,999
Total	\$ 30,732,465

County Investment Pool – Cash resources of the School District are held and managed by the County Treasurer pursuant to Montana law. They are combined with cash resources of other governmental entities within the County to form a pool of cash and cash equivalents. Investments of pooled cash consist primarily of STIP, repurchase agreements, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit and are carried at fair value. The School District's exposure to credit risk is not available to the School District. Risk in the event of loss is unclear in the state law but appears to be the liability of the County government. Because of the custodial involvement of the County government, and the commingling of cash in County deposits in the name of the County Treasurer, full risk classifications are available in the County's annual report. There is no known maturity and credit rating of the County investment pool.

<u>Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits</u> – The cash of the extracurricular funds and the dental self-insurance fund is held separately by the School District and, consequently, the deposits may be subject to custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the School District's deposits may not be returned. The School District does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At June 30, 2022, the deposits in the extracurricular fund and the dental self-insurance fund were covered by FDIC insurance.

#### NOTE 3. TAXES RECEIVABLE

The School District is permitted by Montana statutes to levy taxes up to certain fixed limits for various purposes. The assessed value of the roll as of January 1, 2021, upon which the levy for the 2022 fiscal year was based, amounted to \$14,248,842 for the Elementary School District and \$15,517,954 for the High School District. The tax rates assessed for the year ended June 30, 2022 to finance School District operations and applicable taxes receivable for the elementary and high schools were as follows:

	Mill	Taxes
Fund	Levies	Receivable
Governmental Funds		
<u>Elementary</u>		
General *	130.69	\$ 48,600
Transportation	21.82	9,167
Bus Depreciation	17.55	5,522
Tuition	13.57	4,580
Technology	4.32	1,717
Debt Service	0.00	244
Building Reserve	9.64	3,642
High School		
General *	69.32	28,562
Transportation	12.70	4,982
Bus Depreciation	15.24	5,926
Tuition	2.99	1,083
Adult Education	0.00	326
Technology	3.49	1,455
Building Reserve	7.55	3,057
Total	308.88	<u>\$ 118,863</u>
<ul> <li>Denotes Major Fund</li> </ul>		

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Property taxes assessed may be paid under protest and held by the County Treasurer until the action is finally determined to be in favor of or against the governmental entity levying the tax. Money paid under protest is accounted for by the County in a protested tax fiduciary fund until the final determination. The amount reported above includes \$1,019 of taxes paid under protest.

#### NOTE 4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable represent the outstanding balances of amounts billed for services the School District has provided for the CMEC building. An allowance for doubtful accounts has not been established since the outstanding amount is not material.

	A	ccounts
Fund	Re	ceivable
Interlocal Agreement*	\$	4,078
* Denotes Major Fund		

#### NOTE 5. OTHER ASSETS

#### 5. a. DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS

Due from other governments represent amounts due to the School District for costs incurred but not reimbursed by third party governments. The amounts due from other governments as of June 30, 2022 were as follows:

Fund	Fund Amount		Reason
Elementary			
School Food	\$ 1,514	State of MT	State matching funds earned in FY22
Miscellaneous *	268,548	State of MT	ESSER II grant revenue earned in FY22
Miscellaneous *	289,338	State of MT	ESSER III grant revenue earned in FY22
Miscellaneous *	49,134	State of MT	ESSER Lost Inst. Time revenue earned in FY22
Miscellaneous *	72,144	State of MT	Title I grant revenue earned in FY22
Miscellaneous *	2,507	State of MT	MTSS grant revenue earned in FY22
High School			
Miscellaneous	6,773	State of MT	Carl Perkins grant revenue earned in FY22
Traffic Education	8,858	State of MT	Per pupil reimbursement
Total	\$ 698,816		
* Denotes Major Fund			

#### 5. b. LEASE RELATED ACTIVITIES

Lease accounting is based on the principle that leases are financing the right to use an underlying nonfinancial asset (the underlying asset – i.e., vehicle, building, land, office space, etc.). A lease is "a contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity's nonfinancial asset as specified in the contract for a period of time.

The School District entered into lease related activities as follows:

#### Lease related receivables -

During the current fiscal year, the School District reported leased assets as noted below and will recognize revenue over the lease term. The stated interest rate ranges from 0.00%-4.00%.

Vendor Name	Purpose	Contract Contract Period Amount				tstanding une 30, 2022	1	eferred Inflows e 30, 2022	Annual ayments
CMLRCC	Office space	None	\$	7,000	\$	32,409	\$	32,409	\$ 7,000
U. of Providence	Office space	7 years		67,200		58,723		58,723	9,600
MT Job Service	Office space	2 years		4,800		4,622		4,622	 2,400
Total			\$	79,000	\$	95,754	\$	95,754	\$ 19,000

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 6. CAPITAL ASSETS, DEPRECIATION, AND NET CAPITAL ASSETS

#### 6. a. GENERAL CAPITAL ASSETS

The schedule of changes in general capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2022 follows:

	Balance			
Governmental Activities	July 1, 2021	Additions	Deletions	June 30, 2022
Non-depreciable Assets:				
Land	\$ 590,530	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 590,530
Construction in Progress	0	446,317	0	446,317
Total Non-depreciable Assets	590,530	446,317	0	1,036,847
Depreciable Assets:				
Buildings	16,679,806	194,415	0	16,874,221
Improvements Other than Buildings	1,463,020	159,433	(7,500)	1,614,953
Machinery and Equipment	4,989,501	630,743	(134,570)	5,485,674
Total Depreciable Assets	23,132,327	984,591	(142,070)	23,974,848
Accumulated Depreciation:				
Buildings	(8,781,710)	(541,066)	0	(9,322,776)
Improvements Other than Buildings	(1,090,804)	(45,708)	3,375	(1,133,137)
Machinery and Equipment	(3,016,250)	(392,110)	131,170	(3,277,190)
Total Accumulated Depreciation	(12,888,764)	(978,884)	134,545	(13,733,103)
Net Depreciable Assets	10,243,563	5,707	(7,525)	10,241,745
Net General Capital Assets	\$ 10,834,093	\$ 452,024	\$ (7,525)	<u>\$ 11,278,592</u>

Depreciation expense charged to governmental functions was as follows:

Function	Amount
Instructional Services	\$ 13,239
Educational Media Services	14,573
General Administrative Services	7,634
Operation and Maintenance Services	294,342
Transportation Services	289,744
School Food Services	9,045
Extracurricular	40,752
Unallocated	 309,555
Total Depreciation Expense	\$ 978,884

#### NOTE 7. CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities represent amounts due to creditors, suppliers, or others within a period of time less than one year.

#### 7. a. UNEARNED REVENUES

Unearned revenue, sometimes referred to as deferred revenue, is payment received by the School District from a nonexchange transaction for which not all applicable eligibility requirements have been met. Once the eligibility criteria have been met, revenues and expenditure/expenses will be reported.

<b>Fund</b>	Amount	Purpose
Elementary		
School Food Services	\$ 19,453	Prepaid meals.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 8. LONG-TERM DEBT

#### 8. a. GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT

The schedule of changes in general long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2022 follows:

Governmental Activities	Balance July 1, 2021	New Debt and Other Additions	Principal Payments and Other Reductions	Balance June 30, 2022	Due within One Year
Bonds and Notes Payable:	-				
General Obligation (GO) Bonds	\$ 0	\$ 20,400,000	\$ 0	\$20,400,000	\$ 0
Premium on GO Bonds	0	3,491,208	0	3,491,208	0
Total Bonds and Notes Payable	0	23,891,208	0	23,891,208	0
Other Liabilities:					
Compensated Absences	450,610	0	(8,497)	442,113	54,858
Accrued Pension	12,236,928	0	(3,559,948)	8,676,980	0
Retirement Incentive	35,100	0	(19,500)	15,600	15,600
Other Postemployment Benefits	6,389,265	0	(3,914,985)	2,474,280	0
Total Other Liabilities	19,111,903	0	(7,502,930)	11,608,973	70,458
Total Governmental Activities -					
Long-term Debt	\$ 19,111,903	\$23,891,208	<u>\$(7,502,930)</u>	\$35,500,181	\$ 70,458

#### 8. a. 1 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

The School District issued GO bonds in prior years for the acquisition and construction of capital facilities. GO bonds are direct obligations of and pledge the full faith and credit of the School District. These bonds were issued for the terms and payment schedules as follows:

	Issue	Interest		Maturity	Amount	Outstanding
Description	Date	Rate	Term	Date	Issued	June 30, 2022
EL GO Bonds Series 2022	2/3/22	3-5%	20 years	7/1/42	\$20,400,000	\$ 20,400,000
EL GO bond premium	2/3/22	0%	20 years	7/1/42	3,491,208	3,491,208
-			-		\$23,891,208	\$ 23,891,208

Debt service requirements to maturity for principal and interest for all bonded long-term obligations were as follows:

For the year	Elem	Reoffering Premium	
ended June 30:	Principal	5	
2023	\$ 0	\$ 745,608	\$ 0
2024	370,000	810,950	174,560
2025	725,000	789,050	174,560
2026	750,000	759,550	174,561
2027	780,000	732,850	174,560
2028-2032	4,405,000	3,135,125	872,802
2033-2037	5,370,000	2,154,000	872,802
2038-2042	6,530,000	967,400	872,802
2043	1,470,000	29,400	174,561
Totals	\$20,400,000	<u>\$10,123,933</u>	<u>\$ 3,491,208</u>

<sup>\*</sup>The School District GO bonds were issued with a reoffering premium. The reoffering premium is a part of the cost of issuing GO bonds and will be amortized in equal installments over the life of the GO bonds.

#### 8. a. 2. RETIREMENT INCENTIVE

The School District offered certified teachers a one-time incentive to retire in prior years that amounted to \$650 per month to each teacher who participated. The change in the retirement incentive liability was as follows:

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

	Issue	_	Maturity	Amount	Outstanding
Description	Date	Term	Date	Issued	June 30, 2021
Retirement Incentive	Sept 2021	1½ years	6/30/2023	\$ 35,100	\$ 15,600

Debt service requirements to maturity for principal and interest for all Intercap long term obligations were as follows:

For the year		
ended June 30:	Elementary	High School
2022	\$ 10,400	\$ 5,200

#### NOTE 9. DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

#### 9. a. PROPERTY TAXES

The School District reported deferred property taxes at June 30, 2022 as follows:

Fund		Amount	Reason
Elementary			
General *	\$	48,600	Taxes Receivable
Transportation		9,167	Taxes Receivable
Bus Depreciation		5,522	Taxes Receivable
Tuition		4,580	Taxes Receivable
Technology		1,717	Taxes Receivable
Debt Service		244	Taxes Receivable
Building Reserve		3,642	Taxes Receivable
High School			
General *		28,562	Taxes Receivable
Transportation		4,982	Taxes Receivable
Bus Depreciation		5,926	Taxes Receivable
Tuition		1,083	Taxes Receivable
Adult Education		326	Taxes Receivable
Technology		1,455	Taxes Receivable
Building Reserve	_	3,057	Taxes Receivable
Total	\$	118,863	
* Denotes Major Fund			

#### NOTE 10. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

The School District recorded prior period adjustments at June 30, 2022 as follows:

	Governmental	
<b>Fund</b>	Funds	Reason
Elementary		
General *	\$ 1,008,630	GASB 54 change Interlocal Agreement to general
Miscellaneous *	(149)	ESSER II ARPA not spent
Miscellaneous *	(15)	ESSER III ARPA not spent
High School		
Traffic Education	1,178	OPI payment on additional student from PY
Building Reserve	1,051	Prior year payment
Interlocal Agreement	(1,008,630)	GASB 54 change Interlocal Agreement to general
Total	\$ 2,065	
<ul> <li>Denotes Major Fund</li> </ul>		
Governmental Activities	0	
Total	\$ 2,065	

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 11. INTERFUND OPERATING TRANSFERS IN AND OUT

The School District recorded interfund transfers during the year ended June 30, 2022 as follows:

Operating Fund - In	Amount	Operating Fund - Out	Purpose
Elementary		<u>Elementary</u>	
Building Reserve	\$ 207	Debt Service	Residual equity transfer
High School		<u>Elementary</u>	
Interlocal Agreement *	314,324	General *	To fund interlocal agreement
High School		High School	
Interlocal Agreement *	142,419	General *	To fund interlocal agreement
Total	\$ 456,950		
Less Internal Transactions **	(456,743)		
Total	<u>\$ 207</u>		

<sup>\*</sup> Denotes Major Fund

#### NOTE 12. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

#### 12. a. PLAN DESCRIPTION

The School District provides its retiring employees with at least five years of service and who are at least 50 years of age, along with their eligible spouses and dependents, the option to continue participating in the School District group health insurance plan until the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare coverage. This option creates a defined benefit OPEB plan.

#### 12. b. FUNDING POLICY

The School District pays OPEB liabilities on a pay as you go basis. A trust fund for future liabilities has not been established.

#### 12. c. BENEFITS PROVIDED

The School District provides healthcare benefits for retirees and their dependents. The School District provides the same health care plan to all of its members. Retirees are required to pay 100% of the health insurance premium to retain the healthcare benefits. The School District covers 100% of the premiums for active employees.

#### 12. d. EMPLOYEES COVERED BY BENEFIT TERMS

At as of June 30, 2022, the measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Active employees	153
Inactive employees (may include spouses)	52

#### 12. e. TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

The School District's total OPEB liability amounted to \$2,474,280 at June 30, 2022. The liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

#### 12. f. ASSUMPTIONS AND OTHER INPUTS

The School District obtained an actuarial valuation to determine the OPEB liability.

Valuations involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events far into the future and estimated amounts are subject to continued revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. Projections of benefits for the plan are based on types of benefits provided under the current plan. The valuation assumed that 40% of plan participants would elect to continue coverage after retirement.

<sup>\*\*</sup> The elementary and high school General funds, the Interlocal Agreement fund, and Flexibility funds are consolidated for financial reporting purposes. As such, the internal transactions described above were eliminated for consolidation.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

The total OPEB liability at June 30, 2022 was determined using the following assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Average salary increases	3.25%
Discount rate	4.02%
Retiree's share of benefit related costs	100.00%
Healthcare cost trend rate	3.80% up to 8.80%

#### 12. g. CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

Balance July 1, 2021	\$ 6,389,265
Changes for the Year:	
Service Cost (OPEB Expense)	391,950
Interest	152,719
Differences in experience	(3,097,464)
Changes in Assumptions or Other Inputs	(1,254,595)
Benefit Payments	(107,595)
Net Changes	(3,914,985)
Balance June 30, 2022	<u>\$ 2,474,280</u>

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions and other inputs are composed of the following:

- Decrease of \$3,097,464 is due to changes in benefit terms and actual experience over expected experience.
- Decrease of \$1,205,741 is due to the change in interest rate used
- Decrease of \$70,785 due to salary inflation changes
- Increase of \$21,038 due to updated healthcare trend assumptions

#### 12. h. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

<u>Discount Rate</u> The following presents the total OPEB liability of the School District, as well as what the School District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (3.02%) or 1% higher (5.02%) than the current discount rate:

	1% Decrease	Discount Rate	1% Increase
Total OPEB Liability	\$ 3,052,977	\$ 2,474,280	\$ 2,033,208

<u>Healthcare Cost Trend Rates</u> The following presents the total OPEB liability of the School District, as well as what the School District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower (8.80% decreasing to 7.80%) or 1% higher (8.80% increasing to 9.80%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

	Healthcare Cost			
	1% Decrease	Trend Rate	1% Increase	
Total OPEB Liability	\$ 1,974,789	\$ 2,474,280	\$ 3,150,622	

#### 12. i. OPEB EXPENSE AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the School District reported \$785,589 in expense related to OPEB.

At June 30, 2022, the School District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

<sup>\*</sup> GASB No. 75 requires an actuarial valuation or calculation using the specified actuarial valuation of the total OPEB liability to be performed at least once every two years and roll forward procedures on the off years. Accordingly, the School District did not perform a valuation of their total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022 and the liability displayed is based on the measurement date of June 30, 2021 with changes based on roll forward procedures. The roll forward procedures add the annual normal costs and subtract the benefits payments.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

	Outf	ferred lows of ources	Deferred Inflows of Re- sources
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience	\$	0	\$ (3,097,464)
Changes of Assumptions		21,931	(1,276,526)
Total	\$	21,931	\$ (4,373,990)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ended	<b>Deferred Outflows</b>		Deferred Inflows				
June 30:	of Res	of Resources		f Resources			
2022	\$	0	\$	(343,382)			
2023		0		(343,382)			
2024		0		(343,382)			
2025		0		(343,382)			
2026		0		(343,382)			
Thereafter (8 years)		0		(1,897,610)			

#### NOTE 13. OTHER COMMITMENTS

#### 13. a. ENCUMBRANCES

An encumbrance is a portion of a budget set aside for spending the current year budget authority. Like the budget itself, an encumbrance is a projection and not yet an accounts payable or other liability of the School District. When it comes time to pay necessary encumbered funds, the encumbrance disappears in that amount and becomes an actual expenditure of School District.

The School District's encumbrance policy is for fiscal year-end encumbrances exceeding \$1,000 to be considered significant encumbrances. All encumbrances are classified as assigned or restricted in the funds noted below:

Fund	Amount
Elementary	
Building *	\$ 1,416,188
High School	
General *	5,109
Total	\$ 1,421,297
* Denotes Major Fund	<del></del>

#### NOTE 14. RISK MANAGEMENT

The School District is exposed to distinct types of risk of loss, including:

- Damage to and loss of property and contents
- Employee torts
- Professional liability, e.g., errors and omissions
- Environmental damage
- Workers' compensation, e.g., employee injuries
- Medical insurance costs of employees

Several methods are used to provide insurance for these risks. Commercial policies, transferring all risks of loss, except for relatively small deductible amounts, are purchased for property and contents damage, employee torts, professional liabilities, and employee medical insurance. The School District has joined with other School Districts throughout the state into an interlocal common risk pool to insure workers' compensation for all participating School Districts in a self-insurance pool. The Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program is managed by a board of directors elected annually. Members are responsible for fully funding the Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program through the payment of annual premiums accessed. There is no other liability to the School District other than timely payments of premiums. The School District can withdraw from the Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program with 60 days notice at any time. The School District has no coverage for potential losses from environmental damages.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Levels of insurance have not changed materially from the prior year and settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage limits during the current or each of the two previous years.

#### NOTE 15. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The School District participates in two state-wide, cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit retirement plans which cover all School District employees, except certain substitute teachers and part-time, non-teaching employees. The plans are established under Montana law and are administered by the State. The School District participates in the following Montana administered retirement plans:

- The Teachers' Retirement System (TRS) covers teaching employees, including administrators and aides and
- The Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) covers nonteaching employees and

The plans issue publicly available annual reports, stand-alone financial statements, actuarial valuations, experience studies, and plan audited financial statements. Those reports may be obtained from the following:

# Teachers' Retirement System Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration P.O. Box 200139 P.O. Box 200131 1500 Sixth Avenue 100 N. Park Avenue Suite 200 Helena, MT 59620-0139 Helena, MT 59620-0131 Phone: 406-444-3134 Phone: 406-444-3154 www.trs.mt.gov www.mpera.mt.gov

#### 15. a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

The Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA) and the TRS prepare their financial statements using the accrual basis of accounting. For the purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense, and information about the fiduciary net position and additions to and deductions from fiduciary net position have been determined on the same accrual basis as they are reported by MPERA and TRS. For this purpose, member contributions are recognized in the period in which contributions are due. Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Revenues are recognized in the accounting period they are earned and become measurable. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized in the accounting period when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Expenses are recognized in the period incurred.

Investments are reported at fair value. MPERA and TRS adhere to all applicable GASB statements.

#### 15. b. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The PERS-Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (Defined Benefit plan), administered by the MPERA, is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing plan established July 1, 1945 and is governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA. This plan covers the state, local governments, certain employees of the Montana University System, and school districts.

All new members are initially members of the Defined Benefit plan and have a 12-month window during which they choose to remain in the Defined Benefit plan or join the defined contribution plan by filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be participants of both the defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans.

The Defined Benefit provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are established by state law and can only be amended by the State Legislature.

#### 15. b. 1. SUMMARY OF BENEFITS

Eligibility for benefits

#### <u>Service Retirement</u>: • Hired prior to July 1, 2011:

- o Age 60, 5 years of membership service;
  - o Age 65, regardless of membership service; or
  - Any age, 30 years of membership service.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

- Hired on or after July 1, 2011:
  - o Age 65, 5 years of membership service; or
  - o Age 70, regardless of membership service.

## Early Retirement: (actuarially reduced)

- Hired prior to July 1, 2011:
  - Age 50, 5 years of membership service; or
  - o Any age, 25 years of membership service.
- Hired on or after July 1, 2011:
  - o Age 55, 5 years of membership service.

#### Second Retirement: (requires returning to PERS-covered employer or PERS service)

- Retire before January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 2 years additional service credit or retire on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 5 years additional service credit:
  - A refund of member's contributions plus return interest (currently 2.02% effective July 1, 2018);
  - o No service credit for second employment;
  - Start the same benefit amount the month following termination; and
  - Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) starts again in the January immediately following the second retirement.
- Retire before January 1, 2016 and accumulate at least 2 years additional service credit:
  - A recalculated retirement benefit based on provision in effect after the initial retirement;
  - GABA starts on the recalculation benefit in the January after receiving the new benefit for 12 months.
- Retire on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate 5 or more years additional service credit:
  - The same retirement as prior to the return to service;
  - O A second retirement benefit as prior to the second period of service based on laws in effect upon the rehire date; and
  - GABA starts on both benefits in the January after receiving the original and the new benefit for 12 months.

#### Vesting:

#### 5 years of membership service

#### Member's Highest Av-

erage

#### Compensation (HAC):

Hired prior to July 1, 2011:

o HAC during any consecutive 36 months.

- Hired on or after July 1, 2011:
  - o HAC during any consecutive 60 months.

#### Compensation Cap:

- Hired on or after July 1, 2013:
  - o 110% annual cap on compensation considered as part of a member's HAC.

### Monthly Benefit Formula:

- Hired prior to July 1, 2011:
  - Less than 25 years of membership service 1.785% of HAC per year of service credit; or
  - o 25 years of membership service or more 2% of HAC per year of service credit.
- Hired on or after July 1, 2011:
  - o Less than 10 years of membership service 1.5% of HAC per year of service credit;
  - 10 years or more, but less than 30 years of membership service 1.785% of HAC per year of service credit; or
  - o 30 years or more of membership service 2% of HAC per year of service credit.

## Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment:

After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member's benefit increases by the following percentage each January, inclusive of other adjustments to the member's benefit:

- 3% for members hired **prior** to July 1, 2007
- 1.5% for members hired **between** July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013
- Members hired on or after July 1, 2013:
  - 1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%;
  - o 1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; and
  - o 0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 15. b. 2. OVERVIEW OF CONTRIBUTIONS

<u>Contributions:</u> Member and employer contribution rates are specified by state law and are a percentage of the member's compensation. Contributions are deducted from each member's salary and remitted by participating employers. The State Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates. Member and employer contribution rates are shown in the table below.

<u>Special Funding:</u> The State of Montana, as the non-employer contributing entity, paid to the Plan, additional contributions that qualify as *special funding*. Those employers who received *special funding* are all participating employers.

			State & Uni-				
	Member		versities	Local Go	vernment	School I	Districts
	Hired	Hired					
Fiscal Year	<07/01/11	>07/01/11	Employer	Employer	State	Employer	State
2022	7.900%	7.900%	8.970%	8.870%	0.100%	8.600%	0.370%
2021	7.900%	7.900%	8.870%	8.770%	0.100%	8.500%	0.370%
2020	7.900%	7.900%	8.770%	8.670%	0.100%	8.400%	0.370%
2019	7.900%	7.900%	8.670%	8.570%	0.100%	8.300%	0.370%
2018	7.900%	7.900%	8.570%	8.470%	0.100%	8.200%	0.370%
2017	7.900%	7.900%	8.470%	8.370%	0.100%	8.100%	0.370%
2016	7.900%	7.900%	8.370%	8.270%	0.100%	8.000%	0.370%
2015	7.900%	7.900%	8.270%	8.170%	0.100%	7.900%	0.370%
2014	7.900%	7.900%	8.170%	8.070%	0.100%	7.800%	0.370%
2012-2013	6.900%	7.900%	7.170%	7.070%	0.100%	6.800%	0.370%
2010-2011	6.900%		7.170%	7.070%	0.100%	6.800%	0.370%
2008-2009	6.900%		7.035%	6.935%	0.100%	6.800%	0.235%
2000-2007	6.900%		6.900%	6.800%	0.100%	6.800%	0.100%

- 1. Member contributions to the system of 7.9% are temporary and will be decreased to 6.9% on January 1 following actuary valuation results that show the amortization period has dropped below 25 years and would remain below 25 years following the reduction of both the additional employer and additional member contribution rates.
- 2. Employer contributions to the system:
  - a. Effective July 1, 2014, following the 2013 Legislative Session, PERS-employer contributions increase an additional 0.1% a year and will continue over 10 years through 2024. The additional employer contributions, including the 0.27% added in 2007 and 2009, will terminate on January 1 following an actuary valuation that shows the amortization period has dropped below 25 years and would remain below the 25 years following the reduction of both the additional employer and additional member contributions rates.
  - b. Effective July 1, 2013, employers are required to make contributions on working retirees' compensation. Member contributions for working retirees are not required.
  - c. The portion of employer contributions allocated to the Plan Choice Rate (PCR) are included in the employers reporting. The PCR was paid off effective March 2016 and the contributions previously directed to the PCR are now directed to member accounts.

#### 3. Non-Employer Contributions:

- a. Special Funding The State of Montana, as the non-employer contributing entity, paid to the Plan, additional contributions that qualify as special funding. Those employers who received special funding are all participating employers.
  - i. The State contributed 0.1% of members' compensation on behalf of local government entities.
  - ii. The State contributed 0.37% of members' compensation on behalf of school district entities.
  - iii. The State contributed a Statutory Appropriation from the General Fund amounting to \$34,290,660.

#### 15. b. 3. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The Total Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability (NPL) as of June 30, 2021 was determined by taking the results of the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation and applying standard roll forward procedures. There were several significant assumptions and other inputs used to measure the TPL. Among those assumptions were the following:

•	Investment Return (net of admin expenses)	7.06%
•	Admin Expense as % of Payroll	0.28%
•	General Wage Growth (includes inflation at 2.40%)	3.50%

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Merit Increases

0.00% to 4.80%

- Postretirement Benefit Increases:
  - o GABA. After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member's benefit increases by the following percentage each January, inclusive of all other adjustments to the member's benefit:
    - 3% for members hired prior to July 1, 2007
    - 1.5% for members hired between July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013
    - Members hired on or after July 1, 2013:
      - 1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%;
      - 1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; and
      - 0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more.
- Mortality assumptions among contributing members and service retired members and beneficiaries were based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables projected to 2020 with scale BB, males set back 1 year.
- Mortality assumptions among disabled members are based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables with no projections.

#### 15. b. 4. DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.06%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities would be made based on the Board's funding policy, which established the contractually required rates under the Montana Code Annotated. The state contributed 0.10% of the salaries paid by local governments and 0.37% paid by school districts. In addition, the state contributed a statutory appropriation from the general fund. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members through the year 2126. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. A municipal bond rate was not incorporated in the discount rate.

#### 15. b. 5. TARGET ALLOCATIONS

The long-term rate of return as of June 30, 2021, was calculated using the average long-term capital market assumptions published in the Survey of Capital Market Assumptions 2021 Edition by Horizon Actuarial Service, LLC, yielding a median real return of 4.66%. The assumed inflation is based on the intermediate inflation assumption of 2.40% in the 2021 OASDI Trustees Report used by the Chief Actuary for Social Security to produce 75-year cost projections. Combining these two results yields a nominal return of 7.06%. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset allocation as of June 30, 2021 are summarized in the table below.

Asset Class	Target Asset Allocation	Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return Arithmetic Basis
Cash	3.00%	(0.33)%
Domestic Equity	30.00%	5.90%
International Equity	17.00%	7.14%
Private Investments	15.00%	9.13%
Real Assets	5.00%	4.03%
Real Estate	9.00%	5.41%
Core Fixed Income	15.00%	1.14%
Non-Core Fixed Income	6.00%	3.02%
Total	100.00%	

#### 15. b. 6. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The School District contributed to the State of Montana Public Employee Retirement System Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (Defined Contribution plan) for employees that have elected the Defined Contribution plan. The Defined Contribution plan is administered by the Montana Public Employees Retirement Board (PERB) and is reported as a multiple-employer plan established July 1, 2002, and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA.

All new PERS members are initially members of the Defined Benefit plan and have a 12-month window during which they may choose to remain in the Defined Benefit plan or join the PERS- Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (Defined Contribution plan) by filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be participants of both the *Defined Benefit* and *Defined Contribution* retirement plans. Member and employer contribution rates are specified by state law and are a percentage of the member's compensation.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Contributions are deducted from each member's salary and remitted by participating employers. The State Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates.

Benefits are dependent upon eligibility and individual account balances. Participants are vested immediately in their own contributions and attributable income. Participants are vested after 5 years of membership service for the employer's contributions to individual accounts and the attributable income. Non-vested contributions are forfeited upon termination of employment per 19-3-2117(5), MCA. Such forfeitures are used to cover the administrative expenses of the Defined Contribution plan.

At the plan level for the measurement period ended June 30, 2020, the Defined Contribution plan employer did not recognize any net pension liability or pension expense for the Defined Contribution plan. Plan level non-vested forfeitures for the 340 employers that have participants in the PERS-DCRP totaled \$1,103,889.

#### 15. c. TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

TRS is a mandatory-participation multiple-employer cost- sharing defined-benefit public pension plan that provides retirement services to individuals employed as teachers, administrators, and in other professional and skilled positions employed in public education in Montana.

The TRS Board is the governing body of the System and the TRS staff administers the system in conformity with the laws set forth in Title 19, chapter 20, MCA, and administrative rules set forth in Title 2, Chapter 44 of the Administrative Rules of Montana.

#### 15. c. 1. SUMMARY OF BENEFITS

Through June 30, 2013, all members enrolled in TRS participated in a single-tiered plan (Tier One). Employees with a minimum of 25 years of service or who have reached age 60 with 5 years of service are eligible to receive an annual retirement benefit equal to creditable service years divided by 60 times the average final compensation (AFC). Final compensation is the average of the highest three consecutive years of earned compensation. Benefits fully vest after 5 years of creditable service. Vested employees may retire at or after age 50 and receive reduced retirement benefits. Beginning July 1, 2013, new members in TRS participate in a second benefit tier (Tier Two), which differs from Tier One as follows:

- Tier Two uses a 5-year AFC (as opposed to 3-year AFC in Tier One);
- Tier Two provides for unreduced service retirement benefits at age 60 with 5 years of creditable service or at age 55 with at least 30 years of creditable service (rather than at age 60 with 5 years of service or at any age with creditable service in 25 years in Tier One);
- Tier Two provides for early retirement benefits with 5 years of creditable service at age 55 (rather than age 50 in Tier One);
- Tier Two has a one percent higher normal employee contribution rate (though a temporary 1% supplemental employee contribution rate is also now currently in place for Tier One members); and
- Tier Two provides for an enhanced benefit calculation (1.85% x AFC x years of creditable service) for members retiring with at least 30 years of creditable service and at least 60 years of age (rather than 1.6667 x AFC x years of creditable service for Tier One).

A guaranteed annual benefit adjustment (GABA) is payable on January 1st of each calendar year for each retiree who has received at least 36 monthly retirement benefit payments prior to that date. The GABA is applicable to both Tier One and Tier Two members. The GABA for Tier One members is 1.5% of the benefit payable as of January 1st. The GABA for Tier Two members may vary from 0.5% to 1.5% each year based on the retirement system's funding status and the period required to amortize any unfunded accrued actuarial liability as determined in the prior actuarial valuation.

#### 15. c. 2. OVERVIEW OF CONTRIBUTIONS

TRS (the System) receives a portion of the total required statutory contributions directly from the State for all employers. The employers are considered to be in a special funding situation as defined by GASB 68 and the State is treated as a non-employer contributing entity in TRS. The System receives 2.49% of reportable compensation from the State's general fund for School Districts and Other Employers. The System also receives 0.11% of reportable compensation from the State's general fund for all TRS Employers including State Agency and University System Employers. Finally, the State is also required to contribute \$25 million in perpetuity payable July 1st of each year.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

The table below shows the legislated contribution rates for TRS members, employers, and the State.

	Members	Employers	General fund	Total employee and employer
Prior to July 1, 2007	7.15%	7.47%	0.11%	14.73%
July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2009	7.15%	7.47%	2.11%	16.73%
July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2013	7.15%	7.47%	2.49%	17.11%
July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014	8.15%	8.47%	2.49%	19.11%
July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015	8.15%	8.57%	2.49%	19.21%
July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016	8.15%	8.67%	2.49%	19.31%
July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017	8.15%	8.77%	2.49%	19.41%
July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018	8.15%	8.87%	2.49%	19.51%
July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019	8.15%	8.97%	2.49%	19.61%
July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020	8.15%	9.07%	2.49%	19.71%
July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021	8.15%	9.17%	2.49%	19.81%
July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022	8.15%	9.27%	2.49%	19.91%
July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023	8.15%	9.37%	2.49%	20.01%
July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024	8.15%	9.47%	2.49%	20.11%

#### 15. c. 3. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The TPL as of June 30, 2019 is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2019. There were several significant assumptions and other inputs used to measure the TPL. The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2019 valuation were based on the results of the last actuarial experience study, dated May 3, 2018. Among those assumptions were the following:

Total Wage Increases: (includes 3.25% general wage increase assumption)

Investment Return:

Price Inflation:

Postretirement Benefit Increases:

- 3.25% to 7.76% for Non-University members
- 4.25% for University members
- 7.06%
- 2.40%
- Tier One. If the retiree has received benefits for at least 3 years, the retirement allowance will be increased by 1.5% on January 1st.
- Tier Two. The retirement allowance will be increased by an amount equal to or greater than 0.5% but no more than 1.5% if the most recent actuarial valuation shows the System to be at least 90% funded and the provisions of the increase are not projected to cause the funded ratio to be less than 85%.

Mortality: (among contributing members, service retired members, and beneficiaries)

RP-2000 Healthy Combined Mortality Table projected to 2022 adjusted for partial credibility setback for two years.

Mortality: (among disabled members)

- Males. RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for males, set forward one year, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2022.
- Females. RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for females, set forward five years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2022.

#### 15. c. 4. DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.06%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities will be made based on the Board's funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rates under MCA. In addition to the contributions, the State general fund will contribute \$25 million annually to the System payable July 1st of each year. Based on those assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members through the year 2124. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. No municipal bond rate was incorporated in the discount rate.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 15. c. 5. TARGET ALLOCATIONS

		Long-Term
	Target Asset	Expected Portfolio
Asset Class	Allocation	Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity	30.00%	5.90%
International Equity	17.00%	7.14%
Private Investment	15.00%	9.13%
Real Assets	5.00%	4.03%
Real Estate	9.00%	5.41%
Core Fixed Income	15.00%	1.14%
Non-Core Fixed Income	6.00%	3.02%
Cash	3.00%	-0.33%
Total	100.00%	

The long term capital market assumptions published in the Survey of Capital Market Assumptions 2021 Edition by Horizon Actuarial Service, LLC, yield a median real return of 4.66%. Assumed inflation is based on the intermediate inflation assumption of 2.4% in the 2021 OASDI Trustees Report used by the Chief Actuary for Social Security to produce 75 year cost projections. Combining these two results yields a nominal return of 7.06%.

#### 15. d. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

In accordance with GASB 68 regarding the disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate, the below table presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.06% as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00% lower or 1.00% higher than the current rate.

As of measurement date	measurement date 1.0% Decrease (6.06%)		Curr	ent Discount Rate (7.06%)	1.0% Increase (8.06%)
PERS					
Net Pension Liability	\$	2,878,206,733	\$	1,813,221,704	919,946,479
School District's Net Pension Liability		2,573,175		1,621,057	822,451
TRS					
Net Pension Liability		2,461,288,724		1,656,535,253	984,981,456
School District's Net Pension Liability		10,483,728		7,055,923	4,195,476

#### 15. d. NET PENSION LIABILITY

In accordance with GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, employers are required to recognize, and report certain amounts associated with their participation in the PERS and TRS. Statement 68 became effective June 30, 2015 and includes requirements to record and report their proportionate share of the collective NPL, Pension Expense, and Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows of resources associated with pensions. In accordance with Statement 68, PERS and TRS have special funding situations in which the State of Montana is legally responsible for making contributions directly to PERS and TRS that are used to provide pension benefits to the retired members. Due to the existence of this special funding situation, employers are also required to report the portion of the State of Montana's proportionate share of the collective Net Pension Liability that is associated with the employer.

The TPL minus the Fiduciary Net Position equals the Net Pension Liability (NPL). The proportionate shares of the employer's and the State of Montana's NPL for June 30, 2021, and 2020, are displayed below. The employer's proportionate share equals the ratio of the employer's contributions to the sum of all employer and non-employer contributions during the measurement period. The state's proportionate share for a particular employer equals the ratio of the contributions for the particular employer to the total state contributions paid.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

	NI	<b>P</b> L	Percent of Collective NPL	Percent of Collective NPL	Change in Percent of
As of measurement date	as of 6/30/20	as of 6/30/19	as of 6/30/20	as of 6/30/19	Collective NPL
<u>PERS</u> School District Proportion-					
ate Share State of Montana	\$ 1,621,057	\$2,518,106	0.089402%	0.095447%	(0.006045)%
Proportionate Share associated with Employer	528,167	872,315	0.029129%	0.033065%	(0.003936)%
Total	\$ 2,149,224	\$3,390,421	0.118531%	0.128512%	(0.009981)%
TRS School District Proportion-					
ate Share State of Montana	\$ 7,055,923	\$9,718,822	0.4259%	0.4321%	(0.0062%)
Proportionate Share associated with Employer	4,025,645	5,746,200	0.2430%	0.2554%	(0.0124%)
Total	\$11,081,568	\$15,465,022	0.6689%	0.6875%	(0.012470)

At June 30, 2022, the employer recorded a liability for its proportionate share of the NPL of \$1,621,057 and \$7,055,923 for PERS and TRS, respectively. At June 30, 2022, the employer's proportion was 0.089402 percent and 0.4259 percent for PERS and TRS, respectively.

The NPL was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the TPL used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of:

- <u>PERS</u> June 30, 2020 and applying standard roll forward procedures. The roll forward procedure uses a calculation that
  adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost), subtracts the actual benefit payments and refunds for the plan
  year, and then applies the expected investment rate of return for the year, The roll forward procedure will include the
  effects of any assumption changes and legislative changes, The update procedures are in conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice issued by the Actuarial Standards Board.
- TRS July 1, 2020. Therefore, no update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability to the measurement date. The employer's proportion of the net pension liability was based on the employer's contributions received by TRS during the measurement period, July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020, relative to the total employer contributions received from all of TRS' participating employers.

received	from all of TRS participating employers.	
	PERS	TRS
Changes in actuarial assumptions, other inputs, and methods:	<ul> <li>The discount rate was lowered from 7.34% to 7.06%</li> <li>The investment rate of return was lowered from 7.34% to 7.06%</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The discount rate was lowered from 7.50% to 7.34%.</li> <li>The investment rate of return assumption was lowered from 7.50% to 7.34%.</li> <li>The inflation rate was reduced from 2.50% to 2.40%.</li> </ul>
<u>Changes in</u> <u>benefit terms</u> :	There have been no changes in benefit terms since the previous measurement date.	There have been no changes in benefit terms since the previous measurement date.
Changes in proportionate share:	There were no changes to the Plan between the measurement date of the collective NPL.	There were no changes between the measurement date of the collective net pension liability and the reporting date. However, each employer may have unique circumstances that will impact the employer's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. If there were changes that are expected to have an impact on the net pension liability, the employer should disclose the amount of the expected resultant change in the employer's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability, if known.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 15. e. PENSION EXPENSE

	Pension Expense as of 6/30/21	Pension Expense as of 6/30/20
PERS (as of measurement date) School District's Proportionate Share Employer Grant Revenue – State of Montana Proportionate Share with the Employer Total	\$ (73,527) 121,212 \$ 47,685	\$ 210,934
TRS School District's Proportionate Share State of Montana Proportionate Share associated with the Employer Total	\$ 557,890 392,190 \$ 950,080	\$ 1,195,074

At June 30, 2022, the employer recognized a pension expense of \$47,685 and \$950,080 for its proportionate share of the PERS and TRS Pension Expense, respectively. The employer also recognized grant revenue of \$121,212 and \$392,190 for the support provided by Montana for its proportionate share of the Pension Expense that is associated with the employer for PERS and TRS, respectively.

#### 15. f. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

At June 30, 2022, the employer reported its proportionate share of PERS and TRS deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to PERS and TRS from the following sources:

	PERS				TRS			
		eferred	Deferred		Deferred		Deferred	
	Ou	tflows of	Inflows of		Outflows of		Inf	lows of
_	Re	sources	Resources		Resources		Resources	
Differences between actual and expected economic experience	\$	17,300	\$	11,735	\$	110,816	\$	0
Changes in actuarial assumptions		240,109		0		803,426		3,624
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings		0		656,707		0	2.	,229,572
Changes in proportion and differences between actual and								
expected contributions		0		0		0		145,566
Changes in proportion and differences between employer								
contributions and proportionate share of contributions		0		114,506		0		0
Contributions paid subsequent to the measurement date –								
FY 2021 Contributions *		161,342		0		589,367		0
Total	\$	418,750	\$	782,948	\$	1,503,609	\$ 2.	,378,762

<sup>\*</sup> Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the employer's contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the NPL in the year ended June 30, 2022.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in Pension Expense as follows:

		PERS	TRS										
	Amount of Deferred												
Year	Outflows (Inflows) to be Recognized												
Ended	as an Increase (Decrease) to												
June 30		Pension Expense											
2022	\$	(61,350)	\$	(153,552)									
2023		(95,940)		(174,137)									
2024		(158,612)		(429,335)									
2025		(209,637) (707,49											
Thereafter		0		0									

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 15. g. EMPLOYER'S PROPORTION OF PENSION AMOUNTS

	PERS	TRS	
	Employer's Proportionate Share	Employer's Proportionate Share	Employer's Total Pension Amounts
Total Pension Liability	\$ 8,068,975	\$ 28,850,869	\$ 36,919,844
Fiduciary Net Position	6,447,918	21,794,945	28,242,863
Net Pension Liability	1,621,057	7,055,923	8,676,980
Deferred Outflows of Resources	418,750	1,503,609	1,922,359
Deferred Inflows of Resources	782,948	2,378,762	3,161,710
Pension Expense	47,685	950,080	997,765

#### NOTE 16. COOPERATIVE

#### 16. a. SPECIAL EDUCATION

The School District is a member of the Central Montana Learning Resource Center Cooperative (the Cooperative), a Special Education Cooperative. The financial records of the Cooperative are prepared and maintained by the Cooperative Clerk. The financial records of the Cooperative are separate from those of the School District, and the financial statements of the Cooperative are not included in the School Districts' financial statements. The Cooperative's financial statements are audited separately from those of the School District. All revenue received, including federal, state, or other types of grant payments, and the financial support provided by each of the Cooperative's members are deposited into the Cooperative's funds, which are maintained in the custody of the Fergus County Treasurer. The Superintendent of Public Instruction may directly deposit to the Cooperative the state and federal portion of any participating member School District's budgeted costs for contracted special education services. All capital assets of the Cooperative are included in the Cooperative's financial statements.

A Joint Board of Directors governs the Cooperative. The Joint Board has the power to set policies, enter into contracts, review the performance of the Cooperative annually, review the fiscal management of the Cooperative annually, and set and approve the annual fiscal budget of the Cooperative.

#### NOTE 17. SUBSEQUENT REPORTABLE EVENTS

LEWISTOWN School District No. 1 has evaluated subsequent events after June 30, 2022 through the date on which the financial statements were available to be issued.

The School District signed a contract with a construction company for \$3,223,000 in August 2022. This is for one of the projects to be completed with the elementary school bond issuance.

#### NOTE 18. JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENTS

Joint ventures are legal entities or other organizations that result in a contractual arrangement and that are owned, operated, or governed by two or more participants. Each participant retains both an ongoing financial interest and an ongoing fiscal responsibility.

#### 18. a. MULTIDISTRICT COOPERATIVE

Section 20-3-363, MCA allows for the creation of a multidistrict cooperative between any School District and other public entities under Title 20, Chapter 9 Part 7, MCA. The parties in a multidistrict cooperative may mutually agree to perform any services, activities, and undertakings of the participants and provide for the joint funding and operation and maintenance of all participants in the agreement.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### 18. a. 1. TECHNICAL SUPPORT

The School District was a party to an agreement with Lewistown Elementary, Fergus High School, Grass Range Elementary, Grass Range High School, Harlowton K-12 School, Ayers Elementary, Roy K-12 Schools, Winifred K-12 Schools, Moore Elementary, Moore High School, Deerfield Elementary, Spring Creek Colony Elementary, King Colony Elementary, Hobson K-12 Schools, Judith Gap Elementary, Judith Gap High School, Stanford K-12 Schools, Central Montana Learning Resource Center Cooperative, and Central Montana Head Start to provide technology services to each participating school district and cooperative.

#### 18. a. 2. INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FUND

The School District was a party to an agreement with Lewistown Elementary and Lewistown High School, for the purpose of jointly purchasing/paying for salaries, technology, curriculum, utilities and supplies for the participating districts. Lewistown High School is the designated prime agency and is responsible for the financial administration of the multidistrict cooperative. The activity of the multidistrict cooperative is accounted for in fund 82 of the Lewistown High School. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 Lewistown Elementary general fund and Lewistown High School general fund transferred \$314,324 and \$142,419, respectively into the high school's Interlocal agreement fund.

#### NOTE 19. FOUNDATION ENDOWMENT

The School District has an endowment from the Evelyn Eccles Foundation. The objective of the foundation was to assist ambitious youth attain worthwhile heights of accomplishment through higher education. At June 30,2022, the endowment fund amounted to \$118,640 and there was one outstanding loan balance amounting to \$5. The School District administers the endowment in accordance with the endowment directives as follows:

- At the end of each school year, the School District's Board of Trustees may "select from the graduating class a student or students, male or female, who have best demonstrated his/her ability to conduct scientific research of any kind or character which looks to the advancement of the best interests of society" and provide a loan from the fund to aid in their securing higher education.
- If a student is selected, the Board of Trustees will determine an amount of the loan "sufficient to materially aid and enable students to attend an institution of higher learning." A no interest promissory note will be executed which shall become due and payable at such time as may be arranged, but not in excess of ten years after the loan agreement has been made.

#### NOTE 20. CITY OF LEWISTOWN

The School District and the City of Lewistown entered into an agreement whereby the School District would use the Lewistown Civic Center for activities such as basketball, volleyball, softball, soccer, floor hockey, superstars, badminton, snowshoeing, roller-skating, cross-country skiing, and table tennis. For the year ended June 30, 2022, School District payments to the City under the terms of this agreement amounted to \$5,517. The School District also paid the City \$50,311 for a resource officer in fiscal year 2022

### SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Other Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### **CHANGE IN LIABILITY**

Fiscal Year End	Service Cost (a)	Interest (b)	Changes in Benefit Terms (c)	Changes in Assumptions or Other In- puts (d)		Net Change in Total OPEB Liability Sum of (a) to (e)=(f)	Total OPEB Liability Beginning (g)	Total OPEB Liability Ending (f)+(g)=(h)
6/30/18 \$	263,917	\$ 16,658	\$ 0	\$ 2,330,713	\$ (77,880)	\$ 2,677,408	\$ 1,392,046	\$ 4,069,454
6/30/19	271,452	147,140	0	325,669	(113,183)	631,078	4,069,454	4,700,532
6/30/20	311,070	175,965	(462,123)	925,660	(75,421)	875,151	4,700,532	5,575,683
6/30/21	401,496	151,223	0	348,515	(87,652)	813,582	5,575,683	6,389,265
6/30/22	391,950	152,719	(3,097,464)	(1,254,595)	(107,595)	(3,914,985)	6,389,265	2,474,280

#### PAYROLL RATIO

Fiscal Year End	Covered Employee Payroll (i)	Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered Employee Payroll (h)/(i)=(j)
6/30/18	\$ 5,903,289	68.94%
6/30/19	6,124,663	76.75%
6/30/20	5,669,468	98.35%
6/30/21	5,867,899	108.89%
6/30/22	4,510,124	54.86%

These schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

#### SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

(Determined as of the measurement date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Year Ended June 30:	Employer's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability	Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability Associated with the Employer (a)	State of Montana's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability Associated with the Employer (b)	Total (a)+(b)=(c)	Employer's Covered Payroll (d)	Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Its Covered Payroll (a)/(d)	Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percent- age of the Total Pen- sion Liability
2014	0.139359%	\$ 1,736,425	\$ 81,172	\$ 1,817,597	\$ 1,632,445	111.22%	79.87%
2015	0.138464%	1,935,544	90,951	2,026,495	1,670,709	115.85%	78.40%
2016	0.141463%	2,409,599	112,614	2,522,214	1,751,664	137.56%	74.71%
2017	0.135932%	2,647,456	121,958	2,769,414	1,742,460	151.94%	73.75%
2018	0.101152%	2,111,191	777,302	2,888,492	1,718,275	122.87%	73.47%
2019	0.099006%	2,069,528	738,330	2,807,857	1,686,719	122.70%	73.85%
2020	0.095447%	2,518,106	872,315	3,390,421	1,656,550	152.01%	68.90%
2021	0.089402%	1,621,057	528,167	2,149,224	1,620,783	100.02%	79.91%

#### TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Year Ended June 30:	Employer's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability	Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability Associated with the Employer (a)	State of Montana's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability Associated with the Employer (b)	Total (a)+(b)=(c)	Employer's Covered Payroll (d)	Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Its Covered Payroll (a)/(d)	Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percent- age of the Total Pen- sion Liability
2014	0.4362%	\$ 6,712,796	\$ 4,599,979	\$ 11,312,755	\$ 5,501,106	122.03%	70.36%
2015	0.4441%	7,296,596	4,891,615	12,188,211	5,537,456	131.77%	69.30%
2016	0.4424%	8,081,164	5,267,725	13,348,889	5,651,304	143.00%	66.69%
2017	0.4434%	7,476,217	4,745,760	12,221,977	5,848,407	127.83%	70.09%
2018	0.4363%	8,099,052	8,099,052	13,133,712	5,828,407	138.96%	69.09%
2019	0.4311%	8,312,421	8,312,421	13,345,830	5,851,796	142.05%	68.64%
2020	0.4321%	9,718,822	9,718,822	15,465,022	5,946,911	163.43%	64.95%
2021	0.4259%	7,055,923	4,025,645	11,081,568	6,066,716	116.31%	75.54%

These schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

#### SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO MONTANA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

(Determined as of the reporting date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Year Ended June 30:	ontractually Required ontributions (a)	Rate	nn Choice e Required ntribution (b)	in Co	ontributions Relation to ontractually Required ontributions (c)	Contribution Deficiency (Excess) (a)+(b)- (c)=(d)		Employer's Covered Payroll (e)	Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll ((a)+(b))/(e)
2015	\$ 133,157	\$	478	\$	133,635	\$	0	\$ 1,670,709	8.00%
2016	141,634		295		141,929		0	1,751,664	8.10%
2017	141,142		0		141,142		0	1,742,460	8.10%
2018	140,899		0		140,899		0	1,718,275	8.20%
2019	140,499		0		140,499		0	1,686,719	8.33%
2020	140,308		0		140,308		0	1,656,550	8.47%
2021	139,946		0		139,946		0	1,620,783	8.63%
2022	146,288		0		146,288		0	1,701,023	8.60%

#### TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Year Ended June 30:	in Rela Contractually Contrac Required Requ nded Contributions Contrib		ontributions a Relation to ontractually Required ontributions (b)	Defi (Ex	ribution ciency ccess) b)=(c)	I	Employer's Covered Payroll (d)	Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll (a)/(d)	
2015	\$	520.550	¢	520.550	\$	0	\$	5 527 456	9.40%
	Э	520,550	\$	520,550	3	-	Ф	5,537,456	
2016		601,312		601,312		0		5,651,304	10.64%
2017		592,541		592,541		0		5,848,407	10.13%
2018		553,234		553,234		0		5,828,310	9.49%
2019		553,772		553,772		0		5,851,796	9.46%
2020		604,525		604,525		0		5,946,911	10.17%
2021		594,700		594,700		0		6,066,716	9.80%
2022		589,367		589,367		0		6,118,452	9.63%

These schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO MONTANA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

(As of Measurement Date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 1. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

#### 1. a. CHANGES OF BENEFIT TERMS

The following changes to the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) plan provision were made as identified:

#### 2017:

#### **Working Retiree Limitations** – for PERS

Effective July 1, 2017, if a PERS retiree returns as an independent contractor to what would otherwise be PERS-covered employment, general contractor overhead costs are excluded from PERS working retiree limitations.

#### Refunds

- Terminating members eligible to retire may, in lieu of receiving a monthly retirement benefit, refund their accumulated contributions in a lump sum.
- 2) Terminating members with accumulated contributions between \$200 and \$1,000 who wish to rollover their refund must do so within 90 days of termination of service.
- 3) Trusts, estates, and charitable organizations listed as beneficiaries are entitled to receive only a lump-sum payment.

#### Interest credited to member accounts

Effective July 1, 2017, the interest rate credited to member accounts increased from 0.25% to 0.77%.

#### Lump-sum payouts

Effective July 1, 2017, lump-sum payouts in all systems are limited to the member's accumulated contributions rate than the present value of the member's benefit.

#### Disabled PERS Defined Contribution (DC) Members

PERS members hired after July 1, 2011 have a normal retirement age of 65. PERS DC members hired after July 1, 2011 who became disabled were previously only eligible for a disability benefit until age 65. Effective July 1, 2017, these individuals will be eligible for a disability benefit until they reach 70, thus ensuring the same 5-year time period available to PERS DC disabled members hired prior to July 1, 2011 who have a normal retirement age of 60 and are eligible for a disability benefit until age 65.

#### **Changes in Actuarial Assumptions and Methods**

Investment Rate of Return\*

#### Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions

The following Actuarial Assumptions were adopted from the June 2019 Experience Study:

7.65%

General Wage Growth\* 3.50%

\*Includes inflation at 2.75%

Merit salary increase 0.00% to 8.47%

Asset valuation method Four-year smoothed market

Actuarial cost method Entry age Normal

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization period 30 years

Mortality (Healthy members) For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality

Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO MONTANA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS (continued)

(As of Measurement Date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

Mortality (Disabled members) For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Mortality Table, with no projections

Admin Expense as % of Payroll 0.28%

Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for the System. This amount varies from year to year based on the prior year's actual administrative expenses.

The actuarial assumptions and methods utilized in the June 30, 2020 valuation, were developed in the six year experience study for the period ending 2016.

#### NOTE 2. TEACHERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

#### 2. a. CHANGES OF BENEFIT TERMS

The following changes to the Teachers' Retirement System (TRS) plan provisions were made as identified:

The 2013 Montana Legislature passed HB 377 which provides additional revenue and created a two tier benefit structure. A Tier One Member is a person who first became a member before July 1, 2013 and has not withdrawn their member's account balance. A Tier Two Member is a person who first becomes a member on or after July 1, 2013 or after withdrawing their member's account balance, becomes a member again on or after July 1, 2013.

The second tier benefit structure for members hired on or after July 1, 2013 is summarized below.

- (1) **Final Average Compensation**: average of earned compensation paid in five consecutive years of full-time service that yields the highest average
- (2) **Service Retirement**: Eligible to receive a service retirement benefit if the member has been credited with at least five full years of creditable service and has attained the age of 60; or has been credited with 30 or more years of full-time or part-time creditable service and has attained age 55
- (3) Early Retirement: Eligible to receive an early retirement allowance if a member is not eligible for service retirement but has at least five years of creditable service and attained age 55
- (4) **Professional Retirement Option**: if the member has been credited with 30 or more years of service and has attained the age of 60 they are eligible for an enhanced allowance equal to 1.85% of average final compensation times all service at retirement. Otherwise, the multiplier used to calculate the retirement allowance will be equal to 1.67%
- (5) Annual Contribution: 8.15% of member's earned compensation
- (6) **Supplemental Contribution Rate**: On or after July 1, 2023, the TRS Board may require a supplemental contribution up to 0.5% if the following three conditions are met:
  - a. The average funded ratio of the System based on the last three annual actuarial valuations is equal to or less than 80%; and
  - b. The period necessary to amortize all liabilities of the System based on the latest annual actuarial valuation is greater than 20 years; and
  - c. A State or employer contribution rate increase or a flat dollar contribution to the Retirement System Trust fund has been enacted that is equivalent to or greater than the supplemental contribution rate imposed by the TRS Board.
- (7) **Disability Retirement**: A member will not be eligible for a disability retirement if the member is or will be eligible for a service retirement on the date of termination
- (8) Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA):
  - a. If the most recent actuarial valuation shows that Retirement System liabilities are at least 90% funded and the provision of the increase is not projected to cause the System's liabilities to be less than 85% funded, the GABA may increase from the 0.5% floor up to 1.5%, as set by the Board.

HB 377 increased revenue from the members, employers and the State as follows:

- Annual State contribution equal to \$25 million paid to the System in monthly installments.
- One-time contribution payable to the Retirement System by the trustees of a school district maintaining a retirement fund.
   The one-time contribution to the Retirement System shall be the amount earmarked as an operating reserve in excess of 20% of the adopted retirement fund budget for the fiscal year 2013. The amount received was \$22 million in FY 2014.

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO MONTANA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS (continued)

(As of Measurement Date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

- 1% supplemental employer contribution. This will increase the current employer rates:
  - School Districts contributions will increase from 7.47% to 8.47%
  - o The Montana University System and State Agencies will increase from 9.85% to 10.85%.
  - o The supplemental employer contribution will increase by 0.1% each fiscal year for fiscal year 2014 thru fiscal year 2024. Fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2024 the total supplemental employer contribution will be equal to 2%.
- Members hired prior to July 1, 2013 (Tier 1) under HB 377 are required to contribute a supplemental contribution equal to an additional 1% of the member's earned compensation.
- Each employer is required to contribute 9.85% of total compensation paid to all re-employed TRS retirees employed in a TRS reportable position to the System.

#### Changes in actuarial assumptions and other inputs:

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2020:

- The discount rate was lowered from 7.50% to 7.34%.
- The investment rate of return assumption was lowered from 7.50% to 7.34%.
- The inflation rate was reduced from 2.50% to 2.40%.

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2019:

• The Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) for Tier Two members is a variable rate between 0.50% and 1.50% as determined by the Board. Since an increase in the amount of the GABA is not automatic and must be approved by the Board, the assumed increase was lowered from 1.50% to the current rate of 0.50% per annum.

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2018:

- Assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.50%
- Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.25%
- Investment return assumption was reduced from 7.75% to 7.50%.
- Wage growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.25%
- Mortality among contributing members, service retired members, and beneficiaries was updated to the following:
  - For Males and Females: RP-2000 Healthy Combined Mortality Table projected to 2022 adjusted for partial credibility setback for two years.
  - o The tables include margins for mortality improvement which is expected to occur in the future.
- Mortality among disabled members was updated to the following:
  - For Males: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table, set back three years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2022.
  - For Females: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table, set forward two years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2022.
- Retirement rates were updated
- Termination rates were updated
- Rates of salary increases were updated

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2016:

The normal cost method has been updated to align the calculation of the projected compensation and the total present value
of plan benefits so that the normal cost rate reflects the most appropriate allocation of plan costs over future compensation.

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2015:

- Correctly reflect the proportion of members that are assumed to take a refund of contributions upon termination and appropriately reflect the three year COLA deferral period for Tier 2 Members.
- The 0.63% load applied to the projected retirement benefits of the university members "to account for larger than average annual compensation increases observed in the years immediately preceding retirement" is not applied to benefits expected to be paid to university members on account of death, disability and termination (prior to retirement eligibility.

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO MONTANA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS (continued)

(As of Measurement Date) For the year ended June 30, 2022

- The actuarial valuation was updated to reflect the assumed rate of retirement for university members at age 60 is 8.50% as stated in the actuarial valuation report.
- The actuarial valuation was updated to reflect the fact that vested terminations are only covered by the \$500 death benefit for the one year following their termination and, once again when the terminated member commences their deferred retirement annuity (they are not covered during the deferral period). Additionally, only the portion of the terminated members that are assumed to "retain membership in the System" are covered by the \$500 death benefit after termination.

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2014:

- Assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.50% to 3.25%
- Payroll Growth Assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00%
- Assumed real wage growth was reduced from 1.00% to 0.75%
- Investment return assumption was changed from net of investment and administrative expenses to net of investment expenses only.
- Mortality among contributing members, service retired members, and beneficiaries was updated to the following:
  - For Males: RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and the RP 2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages below 50, set back four years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2018.
  - For Females: RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and the RP 2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages below 50, set back two years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2018.
- Mortality among disabled members was updated to the following:
  - For Males: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for Males, set forward one year, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2018.
  - For Females: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for Females, set forward five years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 2018.

Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percentage of pay, open

Remaining amortization period 29 years

Asset valuation method 4-year smoothed market

Inflation 2.50 percent

Salary increase 3.25 to 7.76 percent, including inflation for Non-University Members and 4.25% for University

Members;

Investment rate of return 7.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, and including inflation

## STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES Budget and Actual ALL BUDGETED MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

			neral (Elem)		Flexibility (Elem)							
		Original		Final				Original	1 10	Final		
		Budget		Budget		Actual		Budget		Budget		Actual
REVENUES:												
District Levies Interest	\$	1,861,875	\$	1,861,875	\$	1,864,488	\$	500	\$	500	\$	431
Other		4,981		4,981		3,003		500		300		3,143
State		4,879,932		4,879,932		4,879,932		6,962		6,962		6,962
Total Revenues		6,746,788		6,746,788		6,747,423	_	7,462		7,462		10,536
EXPENDITURES:												
Current:												
Instructional Services						3,938,256						492
Support Services - Students						157,113						-
Support Services - Instructional						169,880						-
General Administrative Services						1,148,095						-
Operation and Maintenance Services						738,277						-
Transportation Services						4,769						-
School Food Services Extracurricular						128,656						-
Extracurricular Capital Outlay						69,797 9,448						-
Intergovernmental						68,173						-
C		(74(700		(74(700				110 247		110.247		402
Total Expenditures	_	6,746,788		6,746,788		6,432,464	_	110,247		110,247	_	492
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues						214.050		(100 505)		(100 505)		10.044
Over Expenditures			_		_	314,959		(102,785)	_	(102,785)		10,044
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):												
Fund Transfers (Out)						(314,324)						<u>-</u>
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses)						(314,324)			_			<del>-</del>
Net Change in Fund Balance		-		-		635		(102,785)		(102,785)		10,044
FUND BALANCE:												
Beginning of the Year						634,025					-	102,784
End of the Year					\$	634,660					\$	112,828

## STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES Budget and Actual ALL BUDGETED MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (continued) For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

		General (HS)				Flexibility (HS)					
	 Original		Final				Original	110	Final		
	Budget		Budget		Actual		Budget		Budget		Actual
REVENUES: District Levies Interest	\$ 1,075,934 2,473	\$	1,075,934 2,473	\$	1,076,300 1,234	\$	500	\$	500	\$	573
Other State	 2,214,739	_	2,214,739	_	2,214,739	_	20,297	_	20,297		1,000 20,297
Total Revenues	 3,293,146		3,293,146		3,292,273		20,797	_	20,797		21,870
EXPENDITURES: Current: Instructional Services Support Services - Students Support Services - Instructional General Administrative Services Operation and Maintenance Services Transportation Services School Food Services Extracurricular Capital Outlay Intergovernmental Total Expenditures	3,293,146		3,293,146		1,538,833 106,195 94,184 686,938 482,454 34,404 - 187,854 5,109 14,757 3,150,728		183,812		183,812		7,918 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures	 				141,545		(163,015)		(163,015)		13,952
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): Fund Transfers (Out)					(142,419)						<u>-</u>
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses)	 				(142,419)						
Net Change in Fund Balance	-		-		(874)		(163,015)		(163,015)		13,952
FUND BALANCE: Beginning of the Year End of the Year				\$	303,291 302,417					\$	163,015 176,967

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the year ended June 30, 2022

#### NOTE 1. BUDGETS

Budgets are adopted in accordance with Montana budget laws which are consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the following:

- General fund
- Budgeted special revenue funds
  - Transportation
  - o Bus Depreciation
  - o Tuition
  - o Retirement
  - o Adult Education
  - o Technology
  - Flexibility
- Debt Service funds
- Budgeted capital project funds
  - Building Reserve

All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end, unless the School District elects to encumber supplies and personal property ordered but not received at year end.

#### 1. a. GENERAL BUDGET POLICIES

The School District's funds are either budgeted or non-budgeted in accordance with Montana statutes. Budgeted funds are those for which a legal budget must be adopted to have expenditures as noted above. All other funds are non-budgeted, meaning a legal budget is not required in order to have expenditures. The Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual has been prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting and contains financial information for only the major general and special revenue fund budgeted funds.

- The elementary miscellaneous fund is a major funds but is not included because it is a *non-budgeted special revenue* fund.
- The elementary building fund is a major fund but is not included because it is a non-budgeted fund and is not a special revenue fund.

#### 1. b. BUDGET OPERATIONS

The School District operates within the budget requirements for School Districts as specified by Montana law. The financial report reflects the following budgetary standards:

- By the second Monday in July, the Fergus County Assessor transmits a statement of the assessed valuation and taxable valuation of all property in the School District's borders.
- Before the fourth Monday in July, the Fergus County Superintendent estimates the revenue required for each fund.
- Before the fourth Monday in August, the Board of Trustees (Board) must meet to legally adopt the final budget. The final budget for the General fund is fund total only.
- Once adopted, the budget can be amended by subsequent Board action. An increase of the total budget of a given fund
  requires the adoption of an amended budget in accordance with Montana statutes. Montana statutes prohibit the expenditures of a budgeted fund to exceed the adopted budget.
- At the end of a fiscal year, unencumbered appropriations lapse unless specifically obligated by the School District.

#### NOTE 2. FUND BALANCE RECONCILIATION

The fund balances of the HS general fund reported on the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP Basis) is different from that on the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual due to the reserve for encumbrances. The differences are as follows:

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES BUDGET AND ACTUAL (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

	General (HS)
End of the Year (GAAP)	\$ 307,526
Current-year Encumbrances	(5,109)
End of the Year (Budget)	\$ 302,417

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for expenditures are recorded to reflect the use of the applicable spending appropriations, is used control expenditures. Encumbrances are not included as expenditures on the GAAP basis financial statements as they do not meet the GAAP definition of expenditures. The School District reports encumbrances at year end as budgeted expenditures and displays these amounts as assigned or reserve for fund balances, as applicable.

#### NOTE 3. BUDGET AMENDMENTS

The original budgets were not amended so the original budget and the final budget are the same.

NOTE 4. COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - ALL SUB-FUNDS OF THE GENERAL FUND

				Sub-funds					_
	General (Elem)	Metal Mines Tax Reserve (Elem)	Flexibility (Elem)	General (HS)	Metal Mines Tax Reserve (HS)	Flexibility (HS)	Interlocal Agreement (HS)	Internal Balances Adjustments	Total General Fund
REVENUES:									
District Levies	\$ 1,864,488	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 1,076,300		~	*	\$ -	\$ 2,940,788
Interest	3,003	385	431	1,234	580	573	3,115	-	9,321
Charges for Services	-	-	-	-	-	-	187,781	-	187,781
Other	-	-	3,143	-	-	1,000	67,671	-	71,814
State	4,879,932		6,962	2,214,739		20,297			7,121,930
Total Revenues	6,747,423	385	10,536	3,292,273	580	21,870	258,567	-	10,331,634
EXPENDITURES: Current:									
Instructional Services	3,938,256	-	492	1,538,833	-	7,918	17,364	-	5,502,863
Support Services - Students	157,113	-	-	106,195	-	-	-	-	263,308
Support Services - Instructional	169,880	-	-	94,184	-	-	1,245	-	265,309
General Administrative Services	1,148,095	-	-	686,938	-	-	206,491	-	2,041,524
Operation and Maintenance Services	738,277	-	-	482,454	-	-	4,537	-	1,225,268
Transportation Services	4,769	-	-	34,404	-	-	-	-	39,173
School Food Services	128,656	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	128,656
Extracurricular	69,797	-	-	187,854	-	-	-	-	257,651
Community Services	-	-	-	-	-	-	158	-	158
Capital Outlay	9,448	-	-	-	-	-	126,541	-	135,989
Intergovernmental	68,173			14,757					82,930
Total Expenditures	6,432,464		492	3,145,619		7,918	356,336		9,942,829
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues									
Over Expenditures	314,959	385	10,044	146,654	580	13,952	(97,769)	-	388,805
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): Sale of Capital Assets							28,950		28,950
•							,	(456.742)	
Fund Transfers In Fund Transfers (Out)	(314,324)	-	-	(142,419)	-	-	456,743	(456,743) 456,743	-
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses)	(314,324)			(142,419)			485,693	430,743	28,950
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses)	(314,324)			(142,419)			465,095		28,930
Net Change in Fund Balance	635	385	10,044	4,235	580	13,952	387,924	-	417,755
FUND BALANCE:									
Beginning of the Year	634,025	97,116	102,784	303,291	179,721	163,015	-	-	1,479,952
Prior Period Adjustments							1,008,630		1,008,630
End of the Year - GAAP Basis	634,660	97,501	112,828	307,526	180,301	176,967	1,396,554	-	\$ 2,906,337
Less Current Year Encumbrances	-	-	-	(5,109)	-	-	_	-	
End of the Year - Budget Basis	\$ 634,660	\$ 97,501	\$ 112,828	\$ 302,417	\$ 180,301	\$ 176,967	\$ 1,396,554	\$ -	
₽	, , , , , , , ,								

## NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES BUDGET AND ACTUAL (continued) For the year ended June 30, 2022

In the General sub-funds combining schedule above, the elementary and high school General fund, elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve fund, elementary and high school Flexibility fund, and high school Interlocal Agreement fund are added together to get to the aggregate General fund shown as a major fund on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Governmental Funds. The elementary and high school Flexibility fund, elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve fund, and high school Interlocal Agreement fund are maintained as separate funds for accounting purposes. However, for external financial reporting purposes, they are added to the General fund because they, like the General fund, have unassigned fund balance(s).

On the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual, all budgeted major governmental funds display budgeted information for the General and major special revenue funds of the School District. The above General sub-funds display budget and actual information, except for the following:

- Elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve fund which are non-budgeted special revenue funds
- Interlocal Agreement fund which is a non-budgeted fund.

## SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND BALANCES STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS For the year ended June 30, 2022

Activity		Beginning Balance 7/1/2021		Revenues		Expenses	Transfers	Ending Balance 6/30/2022	
ANNUAL	\$	2,804	\$	6,571	\$	5,838	\$ -	\$	3,537
AP TESTING		5,123		4,757		270	-		9,610
BAND		15		2,344		1,905	_		454
BPA		3,106		6,506		7,731	-		1,881
CT MT MENTORS		221		-		-	-		221
CHEERLEADERS		5,435		6,335		8,471	-		3,299
NHS/CLAWS		-		528		528	-		-
CONCESSIONS		5,368		15,188		14,865	-		5,691
EAGLE RENAISSANCE		2,945		1		617	-		2,329
FCLUB		1,707		748		-	-		2,455
FFA		13,385		36,093		45,794	-		3,684
FCCLA		4,076		8,729		8,778	-		4,027
OUTDOOR CLUB		1,038		-		-	-		1,038
SPANISH CLUB		1,990		6,731		4,309	-		4,412
HOW CLUB		143		-		-	-		143
VICA/SKILLS USA		436		_		_	_		436
KEY CLUB		2,859		909		1,926	_		1,842
ART CLUB		2,225		1		200	_		2,026
SCIENCE CLUB		1,643		1,501		1,418	_		1,726
SKI CLUB		3,348		2,736		3,949	_		2,135
STUDENT COUNCIL		3,447		15,786		9,298	_		9,935
DRAMA CLUB		1,081		_		_	_		1,081
TROPHY		2,238		1		_	_		2,239
VOCAL MUSIC		161		_		_	_		161
DIST. 8 MUSIC FESTIVAL		3,325		3,495		3,106	_		3,714
WEIGHT CLUB		205		_		_	_		205
AP GOVT		746		_		_	_		746
CAREER FAIR		2,002		_		_	_		2,002
EAGLE WEAR		2,526		_		_	_		2,526
MODEL UN		35		_		_	_		35
LEADERSHIP		258		_		_	_		258
ASTRONOMY CLUB		236		_		_	_		236
GAY-STRAIGHT ALLIANCE		97		233		21	_		309
CLASS OF 2021		1,639		-		1,639	_		-
CLASS OF 2022		1,258		_		1,226	_		32
CLASS OF 2023		122		19,489		13,784	_		5,827
CLASS OF 2024		115		50		-,	_		165
CLASS OF 2025		353		203		532	_		24
SCHOOL SPONSORED EXTRACURRICUL		-		217,063		216,344	-		719
GIRLS SOFTBALL/BOYS CROSS COUNT		23,551	_	36,676	_	35,627			24,600
Sub-total	\$	101,262	\$	392,674	\$	388,176	\$ -	\$	105,760

## SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND BALANCES STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS (continued) For the year-ended June 30, 2022

Activity	I	Beginning Balance 7/1/2021		Revenues		penses	Transfers	Ending Balance 6/30/2022	
GENERAL ACTIVITIES	\$	65,232	\$	20,443	\$	22,366	\$ -	\$	63,309
LC SERVICE COUNCIL		1,295		-		-	-		1,295
BUILDERS CLUB		99		97		28	-		168
CHEERLEADERS		-		2,683		1,626	-		1,057
CONSUMER TECH		673		1,074		1,027	-		720
FACS		836		1,214		1,181	-		869
BC, SC STORE		252		5,009		4,077	-		1,184
MUSIC		310		-		-	-		310
PHOTO CLUB		3,602		2,959		2,630	-		3,931
SERVICE LEARNING		386		-		116	-		270
SKI CLUB		2,770		5,958		5,311	-		3,417
STUDENT COUNCIL		513		407		101	-		819
NEWS		170		-		-	-		170
GIS CLUB		1,430		315		734	-		1,011
COMPUTER SERV LEARNING		129		_		-	-		129
FIELD TRIP/SKI DAY		858		-		-	-		858
ROBOTICS CLUB		439		-		-	-		439
SCIENCE OLYMPIAD		157		-		156	-		1
EXPEDITION YELLOWSTONE		4,312		2,025		6,337	-		-
FISHERIES				350					350
Total	\$	184,725	\$	435,208	\$	433,866	\$ -	\$	186,067

### LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1

## SCHEDULE OF REPORTED ENROLLMENT For the year ended June 30, 2022

Fall Enrollment – October 2021

			ran Enron	ment – Octob	er 2021					
	Ful	l-time Stud	lents	Part-time Students						
	Reported	Audited	Variance	181 hours	359 hours	539 hours	719 hours	Audited	Variance	
<u>Elementary</u>										
Kindergarten Full	104	104	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Grade 1 - 6	572	572	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	
Grade 7 - 8	177	<u>177</u>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Total	<u>853</u>	<u>853</u>	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	
High School										
Grade 9 - 12	338	338	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	
19-year old	0	0	0							
Youth Challenge	3	3	0							
Job Corps	0	0	0							
Early Graduates	0	0	0							

**Spring Enrollment – February 2022** 

			Spring Emoi	micht – Febr	uai y 2022						
	Ful	l-time Stud	lents	Part-time Students							
					Less	Less Than					
	Reported	Audited	Variance	181 hours	359 hours	539 hours	719 hours	Audited	Variance		
Elementary											
Kindergarten Full	106	106	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Grade 1 - 6	586	586	0	0	0	0	1	1	0		
Grade 7 - 8	183	183	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Total	<u>875</u>	<u>875</u>	0	0	0	0	1	1	0		
High School											
Grade 9 - 12	329	329	0	0	0	0	1	1	0		
19-year old	0	0	0								
Youth Challenge	0	0	0								
Job Corps	0	0	0								
Early Graduates	0	0	0								

## SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Federal Grantor/ Pass-Through Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title	Federal Assistance Listing Number	Pass-Through Entity Identifying Number	Provided to Subrecipients		Total Federal Expenditures	
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE PASSED THROUGH MONTANA OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION:						
National School Lunch Program (Donated Food) (fn2) National School Lunch Program (fn1) Summer Food Service Program for Children Total Child Nutrition Cluster	10.555 10.555 10.559	N/A N/A N/A	\$	- - -	\$	37,525 379,202 297,206 713,933
School Nutrition Discretionary Grant	10.579	N/A				5,000
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture			\$		\$	718,933
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION DIRECT:						
Rural Education	84.358	S358A202289		-	\$	8,657
PASSED THROUGH MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES:						
Rehabilitation Services Vocational Rehabilitation Grants to States	84.126	19-01-175-0034	\$	-		35,169
PASSED THROUGH CENTRAL MONTANA LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER COOPERAT	ΓIVE:					
Special Education Grants to States	84.027	N/A		-		40,000
PASSED THROUGH MONTANA OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION:						
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Special Education - State Personnel Development Career and Technical Education Basic Grants to States (Carl Perkins) Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) Fund American Rescue Plan - Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER)	84.010 84.323 84.048 84.425D 84.425U	014-0258-32-2022 N/A 014-0259-81-2022 014-025-89-22021 014-0258-93-2021		- - - -		455,373 2,507 25,653 811,411 451,677
Total U.S. Department of Education			\$		\$	1,830,447
Total Federal Financial Assistance			\$		\$	2,549,380

#### LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1

### NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS For the year ended June 30, 2022

### NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) includes the federal grant activity of Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District) under programs of the federal government for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the School District, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position or cash flows of the School District.

### NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting as used in the governmental financial statements. Such expenditures are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in Office of Management and Budget Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations, or the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Award, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.

### NOTE 3. INDIRECT COST RATE

The School District elected to use the 4.05-percent indirect cost rate certified for this district under the Uniform Guidance.

### NOTE 4. FOOTNOTES

- Fn1 No separate funds or accounts maintained; the School District assumes first in first out for program money.
- Fn2 The value of commodities (revenues, expenses or inventory) are not displayed in the basic financial statements.
- N/A Not applicable/available.

## STROM & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants

3203 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave N. Suite 208 PO Box 1980 Billings, MT 59103 Phone: 406-252-2765 E-mail: audit@stromcpa.net

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  $GOVERNMENT\ AUDITING\ STANDARDS$ 

### **INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT**

Board of Trustees Lewistown School District No. 1 Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Governmental Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Lewistown School District No. 1 as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Lewistown School District No. 1's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 20, 2022.

### Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Lewistown School District No. 1's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Lewistown School District No. 1's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Lewistown School District No. 1's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

### **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Lewistown School District No. 1's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

### **Purpose of this Report**

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC

Strom : associates, P.C.

Billings, Montana December 20, 2022

## STROM & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants

3203 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave N. Suite 208 PO Box 1980 Billings, MT 59103 Phone: 406-252-2765 T-mail: audit@stromcpa.net

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE  $UNIFORM\ GUIDANCE$ 

### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Trustees Lewistown School District No. 1 Fergus County Lewistown, Montana 59457

### Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

### **Opinion on Each Major Federal Program**

We have audited Lewistown School District No. 1's compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB *Compliance Supplement* that could have a direct and material effect on each of School District's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2021. School District's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion School District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.

### **Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program**

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America (*Government Auditing Standards*); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. *Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of School District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of School District's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

### Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance requirements of law, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to School District's federal programs.

### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on School District's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards*, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about School District's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we

- exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding School District's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
- obtain an understanding of School District's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of School District's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

### **Report on Internal Control Over Compliance**

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over, which that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirements of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC.

Billings, Montana December 20, 2022

#### LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1

### SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the year ended June 30, 2022

### A. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

### Financial Statements

- The auditor, Strom & Associates, PC, has issued an unmodified opinion on Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District)'s financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022.
- 2. Our audit did not identify any material weaknesses relating to internal controls over financial reporting and its operation.
- Our audit did not identify any significant deficiencies relating to internal controls over financial reporting and its operation.
- 4. Our audit did not identify any noncompliance which was material to the financial statements.

### Federal Awards

- 5. Our audit did not identify any material weaknesses relating to internal controls over federal programs.
- 6. Our audit did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls over federal programs.
- 7. The auditor, Strom & Associates, PC, has issued an unmodified opinion on the School District's compliance with major federal awards programs as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022.
- 8. The audit disclosed no audit findings which are required to be reported under section 200.516 of Uniform Guidance.
- 9. The major program for the School District for the year ended June 30, 2022, was:

### CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster 84.425 ESSER – School Emergency Relief

- 10. The threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was \$750,000. The ESSER State School Emergency Relief is a Type A program.
- 11. The School District does qualify as a low risk audit client.

### B. FINDINGS RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WHICH ARE REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL AUDITING STANDARDS

### Prior year findings/status

The following is the status of prior year findings and updated for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

2021-001 – Obtaining Bids for Major Expenditures

Not repeated

### **Current year findings**

There were no findings or recommendations in the current audit period.

### C. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS

### Prior year findings/status

The audit disclosed no findings or questioned costs relating to federal awards as defined in section 200.516 of *Uniform Guidance* for the prior fiscal year.

### **Current year findings**

The audit disclosed no findings or questioned costs relating to federal awards as defined in section 200.516 of *Uniform Guidance* for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

### **BOARD AGENDA ITEM**

Agenda Item No.

**Meeting Date** 

01/09/2023	12
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\square$ Board of Trustees $\boxtimes$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—ELECTION INFORMATION	
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades	
SUMMARY:	
Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, will report on the eprocedures for 2023.	election calendar and
Attached are the Terms of Office Listing and the 2023 School Election Calen	dar.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

### **SCHOOL ELECTION CALENDAR 2023**

Days From	Doodlings	Event	MCA
Election	Deadlines	(Special Instances Identified in Green)	Citation
No earlier than	Thursday,	Trustee candidates file for election. A Declaration of Intent and Oath of Candidacy	13-10-201
145 days, or	December 8	must be filed with district clerk (regardless of who is running the election). NO	
later than 40	through	CANDIDATE MAY APPEAR ON THE BALLOT UNLESS THE CANDIDATE MEETS THIS	20-3-305
days before	Thursday,	DEADLINE.	
	March 23		
		Candidate should be registered to vote at the time the Oath is filed.	
At least 70 days	Tuesday,	Trustees call for an election. The trustees must pass a resolution stating: 1) the	13-19-202
before	February 21	date of the election; 2) the purpose of the election; 3) whether the election will be	
		by mail or poll; 4) the voting locations and boundaries for each location, if there are	<u>13-19-203</u>
		multiple locations within a district (if changed from a previous school election the	
		new locations must be specifically noted); and 5) the time the polls will open, if	<u>20-9-422</u>
		before noon. The trustees do NOT have to set levy amounts at this time; however,	
		they must be set in time for the clerk to certify the ballot (not less than 30 days	<u>20-20-201</u>
		before the election). The resolution must be delivered to the county election	
		administrator within 3 days of passage, but it need NOT be posted. The trustees	<u>20-20-203</u>
		must also appoint three election judges per precinct.	
		Bond Elections are subject to additional requirements (see <u>20-9-422</u> ,	
		MCA).	
		Request for a mail ballot election must be sent from trustees to the	
		election administrator. Exception: Even if no request is received, the	
A. I 67 I		election administrator could decide to request a mail ballot election.	20.20
At least 67 days	Friday,	Last day to file resolutions for school election with county election administrator.	<u>20-20-</u>
before (within 3	February 24	To assist with the provisions of late registration, include the name and best contact number for the district's election administrator with the resolution.	<u>201(2)(a)</u>
days of passage of the election		number for the district's election administrator with the resolution.	
resolution)			
At least 60 days	Friday,	Election administrator sends mail ballot election plan/timetable/sample	13-19-205
before	March 3	instructions to the Secretary of State's Office so that it is received by this deadline	13 13 203
20.0.0		(e.g., fax, mail, or e-mail to SOS office (not post marked)). One plan must be	
		submitted for each election. As soon as the plan (and any amendments are	
		approved), forward a copy of the mail ballot plan to the county election	
		administrator. Link to instructions:	
		Mail Ballot Plan Timetable and Instructions	
4 weeks	Monday,	Notice of close of regular registration. The county election administrator publishes	13-2-301
preceding the	March 6	the notice of close of regular registration for school districts at least 3 times in the 4	
close of regular		weeks preceding the close of regular registration. Contact the county election	
registration		administrator to coordinate that publication.	
Not later than	Thursday,	Last day trustee candidates may withdraw from the election. Any candidate that	<u>20-3-</u>
5pm the day	March 30	has already filed for election, but wishes to withdraw their name, may do so by	305(3)(a)
before ballot	(by 5 p.m.)	sending a statement of withdrawal to the election administrator.	
certification			
Not later than	Thursday,	Deadline for write-in candidate for a trustee position on a school board to file	<u>20-3-</u>
5pm the day	March 30	<b>Declaration of Intent</b> (must be filed with the district clerk, regardless of who is	305(2)(b)
before ballot	(by 5 p.m.)	running the election).	
certification			40 - 4
No later than	Friday,	Deadline to notify election judges of appointment.	<u>13-4-101</u>
the 30th day	March 31		
before			

Days From	Dandlings	Event	MCA
Election	Deadlines	(Special Instances Identified in Green)	Citation
Not less than 30	Friday,	Election administrator certifies ballot. The election administrator prepares the final	20-20-401
days before	March 31	ballot form, listing all candidates and propositions to be voted upon. The ballot	
,		must then be delivered to the election administrator, if other than the clerk.	<u>15-10-425</u>
		Trustees must pass a resolution stating exact levy amounts by this date for the clerk	
		to certify the ballot. This resolution must include the durational limit, if any, on the	
		levy.	
Not less than 30	Friday,	Election by Acclamation and Cancellation of Election - Notice. If the number of	20-3-313
days before	March 31	candidates filing a nomination petition or filing a declaration of intent to be a write-	
		in candidate is equal to or less than the number of open trustee positions to be	
		elected, the trustees may cancel the election. They must then give notice that a	
		trustee election will not be held. The trustee election may not be declared by	
		acclamation until all candidate filing deadlines have passed. Send a copy to the	
		county election administrator to aid with the provisions of late registration.	
		**A trustee election held in single-member or trustee nominating district is	
		considered a separate trustee election for declaring the election by acclamation.	
30 days before	Monday,	Close of regular voter registration. Registration forms postmarked by this date and	13-2-301
any election	April 3	received within 3 days are accepted for regular registration. Late registration must	<u> </u>
, c.cc		be completed at the county election office.	
Not more than	Monday,	Contact your county election administrator for the absentee ballot list.	13-13-212
30 days before	April 3		
,	•		20-20-312
Not more than	Monday,	Performance Testing and Certification of Voting System. The election	13-17-212
30 days before	April 3	administrator must publicly test and certify that the system is performing properly.	15 17 212
Day after Close	Tuesday,	Start of Late Registration. Late voter registration starts and continues through	<u>13-2-304</u>
of Regular	April 4	election day. Late registration must be completed at the office of the county	
Registration		election administrator.	
Not less than 10	Thursday	<b>Notice of election is posted.</b> The election notice must be published in a newspaper	<u>20-20-204</u>
days, or more	March 23	of general circulation in the district, if available, posted in at least three public	
than 40 days	Through	places in the district AND posted on the district's website for the 10 days prior to	
before	Saturday,	the election, if the district has an active website. Notice using any other recognized	
	April 22	media may be used to supplement the posting. The notice must include: 1) the date	
		and voting locations for the election; 2) voting location hours; 3) each proposition to	
		be considered by the electorate; 4) the number of trustee positions, if any, subject	
		to election and the length of the terms for those positions; 5) where and how	
		absentee ballots may be obtained; and 6) where and how late registrants may	
		obtain a ballot on election day.	
		If the polling place has changed from the previous school election, that      The polling place has changed from the previous school election, that	
		change must be referred to in the notice.	
		If more than one proposition will be considered in the same district, each proposition must be set apart and identified, or placed in separate nations.	
At least 20 days	Modessdar	proposition must be set apart and identified, or placed in separate notices.	12 12 244
At least 20 days	Wednesday,	Absentee ballots available. The election administrator prepares ballots for	<u>13-13-214</u>
before	April 12	<ul><li>absentee voters. Remember to enclose four things in the absentee package.</li><li>The ballot (with stubs removed);</li></ul>	20 20 404
		<ul> <li>The ballot (with stubs removed);</li> <li>Instructions for voting and returning the ballot;</li> </ul>	<u>20-20-401</u>
		A secrecy envelope, free of marks that would identify the voter; and	
		A self-addressed, return envelope with affirmation printed on the back.	
Not before the	Wednesday,	Mail ballots mailed. If mail ballot election is used, all ballots must be mailed on the	13-19-207
20 <sup>th</sup> day nor	April 12	same day (the day noted in the district's mail ballot plan), except that if an inactive	13 13-207
later than the	through	elector reactivates after the ballots are mailed, the elector should be provided with	
15 <sup>th</sup> day	Monday,	or mailed a ballot. If the elector reactivates after noon on the day before election	
15 day	April 17	day, the elector must come in on election day to receive a ballot.	
	7 spr. 11 ± 7	as in the distant mass some in on distant day to receive a sunot.	

Days From	Doodlings	Event	MCA
Election	Deadlines	(Special Instances Identified in Green)	Citation
Not more than	Saturday,	Absentee/Mail Ballot Counting Notice. Districts must publish in a newspaper of	13-15-105
10 days or less	April 22	general circulation in the county a notice indicating the method that will be used for	
than 2 days	through	counting absentee/mail ballots and the place and time that the absentee/mail	
before	Sunday,	ballots will be counted on election day. If the district publishes their notice of	
	April 30	election <b>on the 10<sup>th</sup> day</b> prior to the election, in a newspaper of general circulation in	
		the county, this information may be included in that notice.	
Not more than	Saturday,	Polling Location Accessibility Notice. Districts must publish in a newspaper of	<u>13-3-105</u>
10 days or less	April 22	general circulation in the county a statement of the location of the polling places	13-3-207
than 2 days	through	and whether each location is accessible or inaccessible. This notice may be	<u> </u>
before	Sunday,	combined with the notice above, and with the notice of election if the notice is	
	April 30	published <b>on the 10</b> <sup>th</sup> <b>day</b> prior to the election.	
Not more than	Saturday,	Publication of Information Concerning Voting Systems. Districts shall broadcast on	<u>13-17-203</u>
10 days or less	April 22	radio or television or publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the county a	
than 2 days	through	diagram showing the voting system to be used by voters and a sample ballot	
before	Sunday,	(newspaper only), a statement of location of where the voting system to be used is	
	April 30	on public display, and instructions on how to vote. <i>This notice may be combined</i>	
		with the notices above, and with the notice of election if the notice is published <b>on the 10</b> <sup>th</sup> <b>day</b> prior to the election.	
Daybafara	Mondou	Deadline for absentee ballot requests. Voters who wish to vote absentee may	12 12 211
Day before (by Noon)	Monday, May 1	request an absentee ballot in writing or in person until noon the day before the	<u>13-13-211</u>
(by Noon)	iviay 1	election.	<u>13-13-214</u>
Day before	Monday,	<b>Deliver certified copy of the lists of registered electors.</b> Before the day of election,	20-20-313
Day before	May 1	the county election administrator shall deliver a certified copy of the lists of	20 20 313
	muy 1	registered electors for each voting location to the district. The district shall deliver	
		them to the election judges prior to the opening of a voting location.	
Election Day	Tuesday,	<b>ELECTION DAY.</b> The election administrator must prepare the polling places, printed	Title 13
	May 2	ballots, ensure election judges are present, and conduct a fair and unbiased	
	. ,	election.	<u>20-20-105</u>
			20-20-401
		Notify election judges of the names of write-in candidates	20 20 411
			<u>20-20-411</u>
No sooner than	Monday,	The first date that provisional ballots may be counted. Following the election,	<u>13-15-107</u>
3pm on the 6 <sup>th</sup>	May 8	unresolved provisional ballots are sealed. These ballots may not be opened until	
day after the		after 3pm on the 6 <sup>th</sup> day after election. The election judges convene, and a	
election		determination is made as to whether the ballots are counted. If there are	
		provisional ballots in a school election, the canvass may not occur until after all	
		provisional ballots are resolved.	
Following	By Friday,	Trustees canvass the votes, issue certificates of election, and publish results.	<u>20-20-415</u>
receipt of the	May 26	Trustees review the tally sheets compiled by the election judges to ascertain their	20-20-416
tally sheets		accuracy. Recounts are ordered, if necessary. If tally is complete and accurate,	
from all polls		trustees issue certificates of election to successful candidates. The canvassed results	
and within 25		shall be published immediately in a newspaper that will give notice to the largest	
days after the		number of people in the district. <i>If the election was called by acclamation the</i>	
election		trustees should still canvass results and issues certificates of election at this time.	

Days From	Deadlines	Event	MCA
Election	Deadillies	(Special Instances Identified in Green)	Citation
Within 5 days	Monday,	Deadline for filing a petition for recount. When a question submitted to a vote of	13-16-201
after the official	May 8	the people is decided by a margin not exceeding ¼ of 1% of the total votes cast for	
canvass	through	and against the question, a petition for recount must be filed within 5 days after the	
	Wednesday,	official canvass.	
	May 31		
Within 5 days of	Monday,	Deadline for convening the School Recount Board. When a tie vote has been	<u>13-16-204</u>
receipt of notice	May 8	certified to the election administrator or conditions have been met for filing a	20-20-420
from the	through	recount petition, the board shall convene at its usual meeting place to perform a	<u>20-20-420</u>
election	Monday,	recount. The recount must be completed within 5 days of receipt of official canvass	
administrator	June 5	or recount petition.	
Within 25 days	By Friday,	Deadline for trustees to hold organizational meeting to elect chair and appoint	<u>20-3-321</u>
of election	May 26	clerk.	
June 1	Thursday,	Deadline for trustees to request county election administrator to conduct school	20-20-417
	June 1	elections for next year. The school district clerk/election administrator is designated	
		the election administrator for school elections. However, the trustees of any district	
		may request the county election administrator to become the election	
		administrator for school elections. The request must be made by a resolution of the	
		board of trustees. If the county accepts, then the county must perform all the	
		duties the school clerk would have. The school district must assume all costs of the	
		election.	
Within 15 days	By Friday,	Candidate completes and files Oath of Office with the County Superintendent.	<u>20-3-307</u>
after receipt of	June 9	*Newly elected trustees may not be seated until the oath is filed. The issuance and	<u>20-1-202</u>
certificate of		the oath may be administered at the organizational meeting but must be completed	20-1-202
election		within 15 days of issuance.	<u>1-6-101</u>
		**In the event of a recount, the deadline for a candidate to complete and file the	
		oath is 15 days from receipt of the certificate of election.	

### NOTE:

On September 30, 2022, the MT Supreme Court ruled that the last of the four bills from the 2021 Legislative Session were unconstitutional and not to be enforced. As of now, there are no changes to late registration, issuance of a ballot to an underage elector, voter identification requirements, or prohibitions on ballot collection. As new legislation is introduced in the 2023 Legislative Session the OPI will update the election calendar to reflect any changes that may impact the May school election.

<u>1-1-307</u>, MCA. Postponement of day appointed for an action when it falls on a holiday or Saturday. Whenever any act of a secular nature, other than a work of necessity or mercy, is appointed by law or contract to be performed upon a particular day, which day falls upon a holiday or a Saturday, such act may be performed upon the next business day with the same effect as if it had been performed upon the day appointed.

If the deadline, as read in statute, is phrased "not later than..." the deadline does not move to a later date but an earlier one.

### **Additional References:**

Sample forms can be found at this address: School Finance Election Webpage

Election Manual: School Election Handbook

MT Secretary of State's Office: Secretary of State's Election Webpage

**NOTE:** Candidates for trustee positions in (1) a first-class district located in a county with populations of 15,000 or more, OR (2) a county high school district with an enrollment of 2,000 or more are required to file a C-1-A Statement of Candidate within 5 days of becoming a candidate. For reporting dates and instructions contact the Montana Commissioner of Political Practices at: Commissioner of Political Practices Webpage.

## LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS ELECTION HISTORY

		ELEMENTARY												
	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002		2003	2004	2005				
AMOUNT	\$268,571.05	\$169,267.06	\$165,301.94	\$27,075.62	NONE	\$29,997.63	\$46,533.25	\$15,336.91	\$31,500.00	\$98,000.00				
MILLS	28.25	17.49	14.71	2.05			4.65	1.52						
FOR	560	569	497	510			786	661						
AGAINST	324	291	17	166			287	249						
PASS/FAIL	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS		PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS				
MAIL/POLL	POLL	POLL	POLL	POLL			POLL	POLL						
TYPE	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY		TECH	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	TECH	BR LEVY (10YR)				

	ELEMENTARY												
	2006	2007	2008	2009	SPRING 2010	SEPTL 2010	2011	2012	2013	2014			
AMOUNT	\$24,110.65	\$77,903.95	NONE	\$123,863.99	\$111,435.00	\$10,715,000.00	\$211,108.25	NONE	NONE	\$0.00			
MILLS	2.09	7.23		10.88	9.48		17.49			0.00			
FOR	703	689		478	958	1421	923			991			
AGAINST	287	392		521	726	2143	1165			155			
PASS/FAIL	PASS	PASS		FAIL	PASS	FAIL	FAIL			PASS			
MAIL/POLL	POLL	POLL		POLL	POLL	MAIL	MAIL			POLL			
TYPE	GF LEVY	GF LEVY		GF LEVY	GF LEVY	BOND	GF LEVY			BUS BARN LAND			

		ELEMENTARY											
	2015		2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2021	2022			
AMOUNT	\$98,000.00	\$79,449.41	\$98,000.00	\$68,606.20	NONE	\$44,638.12	\$51,646.08	NONE	\$20,400,000.00	\$56,896.87			
MILLS	8.33	6.58	8.17	5.54		3.46	3.82						
FOR	1126	1157	845	966		1295	1576		1484	1112			
AGAINST	1173	1146	542	703		1039	1052		1342	1193			
PASS/FAIL	FAIL	PASS	PASS	PASS		PASS	PASS		PASS	FAIL			
MAIL/POLL	MAIL	MAIL	POLL	POLL		MAIL	MAIL		MAIL	MAIL			
TYPE	BR LEVY (10 YR)	GF LEVY	BR LEVY (10 YR)	GF LEVY		GF LEVY	GF LEVY		BOND	GF LEVY			

_		HIGH SCHOOL											
	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002		2003	2004	2005			
AMOUNT	\$32,867.01	\$107,066.90	\$69,582.16	NONE	NONE	\$51,165.05	\$87,613.29	\$55,318.87	\$101.00	\$98,000.00			
MILLS	2.62	8.59	5.70				8.09	5.07	9.37				
FOR	696	673	517				758	641	514				
AGAINST	449	490	18				325	272	289				
PASS/FAIL	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS	PASS			
MAIL/POLL	POLL	POLL	POLL	POLL	POLL		POLL	POLL	POLL				
TYPE	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	TECH	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	GF LEVY	BR LEVY (10YR)			

_	HIGH SCHOOL									
	2006	2007	2008	2009	SPRING 2010	SEPTL 2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
AMOUNT	\$227,354.04	\$28,399.56	NONE	\$34,998.00	NONE	NONE	\$137,765.21	NONE	\$130,492.06	NONE
MILLS	19.93	2.44		2.85			10.58		9.68	
FOR	669	718		531			919		1486	
AGAINST	332	390		483			1201		1337	
PASS/FAIL	PASS	PASS		PASS			FAIL		PASS	
MAIL/POLL	POLL	POLL		POLL			MAIL		MAIL	
TYPE	GF LEVY	GF LEVY		GF LEVY			GF LEVY		GF LEVY	

	HIGH SCHOOL									
	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2021	2022	
AMOUNT	\$98,000.00	\$98,000.00	NONE	NONE	NONE	\$44,713.54	NONE	\$8,600,000.00	NONE	
MILLS	7.71	7.54				3.03				
FOR	1150	875				1589		1447		
AGAINST	1256	593				1168		1509		
PASS/FAIL	FAIL	PASS				PASS		FAIL		
MAIL/POLL	MAIL	POLL				MAIL		POLL		
TYPE	BR LEVY (10 YR)	BR LEVY (10 YR)				GF LEVY		BOND		

# ABSENTEE VOTERS IN ELEMENTARY DISTRICT	3571	69%
# POLL VOTERS IN THE ELEMENTARY DISTRICT	1604	31%
TOTAL # OF VOTERS IN ELEMENTARY DISTRICT	5175	
# ABSENTEE VOTERS IN THE HS DISTRICT	166	67%
# POLL VOTERS IN THE HS DISTRICT	82	33%
# OF VOTERS IN THE HS DISTRICT	248	

### **BOARD MEMBERS TERMS OF OFFICE**

As currently exists, Board members terms of office are as follows:

Expire	Expire	Expire
2023	2024	2025
	•	

School District #1 Three (3) 3-Year Terms:				
	3-year term (to expire in 2026)			
	3-year term (to expire in 2026)			
	3-year term (to expire in 2026)			

**Declaration of Intents Filed for Nomination of School Board Trustee:** 

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	13
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's F	Report
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—BUDGET INFORMATION	
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades	
SUMMARY:	
Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, will repoprojections.	ort on Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
NOTES:	

### 2023-2024 PRELIMINARY BUDGET PROJECTION As of 1/9/2023

### **ELEMENTARY**

**Current Year (2022-2023) Budget** \$7,018,871.96

**2023-2024 Projected Budgets** \$7,285,455.10 without a vote

\$7,407,793.93 with a vote

FY23 Budget vs FY24 Budget \$266,583.14 higher without a vote

\$388,921.97 higher with a vote

FY24 Projected Expenditures \$7,371,911.43

<u>Preliminary\_Budget Shortfall/Surplus (\$86,456.33)</u> without a vote

\$35,882.50 with a vote

**HIGH SCHOOL** 

Current Year (2022-2023) Budget \$3,352,482.33

**2023-2024 Projected Budgets** \$3,531,087.21 without a vote

\$3,531,087.21 with a vote

FY23 Budget vs FY24 Budget \$178,604.88 lower without a vote

\$178,604.88 higher with a vote

FY24 Projected Expenditures \$3,670,839.27

<u>Preliminary</u> Budget Shortfall/Surplus (\$139,752.06) without a vote

(\$139,752.06) with a vote

Unknowns: Legislature, Health Insurance, Spring Enrollment, Retirements/Staff Resignations, Kindergarten
Enrollment, SRSA Grant, Title I Funding

Projections include: 7% Health Insurance increase for certified staff, 10% Health Insurance increase for classified staff, All Staff moved in Years of Experience, 2% increase to matrix for all Classified, 4% increase for all Classified Admin (no salary matrix), Certified salary matrix increases

#### ESSER Funds Used

ESSER III - 2.5 fte (\$117,000 HS) + 1.5 fte (\$81,000 Elem) + 1.0 fte Tech (\$58,000)

TOTAL ESSER: \$256,000

### **OTHER NOTES**

Teacher Incentive Program: Elem 7 staff x \$3,472 = \$24,304

To qualify for additional quality ed payment, the teacher must be in first 3 years of teaching, the base salary must be at least 10x the quality educator payment and the base teacher pay must be at least 70% of the average teacher pay. FHS does not qualify because of 70% rule.

**Teacher Incentive Program** 

Quality Educator Payment FY23 \$3,472.00

10x Quality Educator Payment FY23 \$34,720.00

LPS Base Teacher Pay \$35,269.00 greater than \$34,720

70% of average teacher pay FY23 \$35,230.30 elementary - lower than \$35,269 70% of average teacher pay FY23 \$39,194.40 high school - higher than \$35,269

### **BOARD AGENDA ITEM**

Agenda Item No.

**Meeting Date** 

01/09/2023	14
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORT—INVESTMENT	
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades	
SUMMARY:	
Interest earned and distributed for December 2022 was not available at the	time of this posting.
STIP Elementary Bond Interest for December 2022 was not available at the	time of this posting.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	15
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: REPORTSUPERINTENDENT	
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By: Thom Peck	
CHMMADV.	
SUMMARY:  Time is provided on the agenda for the Superintendent to discuss with the	oo Board any calondar itoms
concerns, correspondence, future agenda items, and announcements.	le board any calendar items,
* 1st Semester Ends January 19, Flex Day- January 20, 2023	
* Calendar Committee is forming	
Four Day/Modified School Week Survey progress	
◆ 2023 MHSA Annual Meeting – January 15-16, 2023 in Missoula	
Winter Assessments	
❖ Community COVID/Illness Team Update	
Principals Conference @ Helena, Sunday-Tuesday, January 22-24	
❖ Staffing Update	
Semester Exams at FHS	
❖ Legislative Session	
Havre Home Basketball Game re-scheduled for Tuesday, January 17	
<ul> <li>KUDOS for Maintenance and Transportation</li> </ul>	
❖ Home Athletic Games/Meets	
<ul> <li>FHS Basketball v. Hardin, Saturday, January 14</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>FHS Basketball v. Havre, Tuesday, January 17</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Class A Duals – January 20-21</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>FHS Basketball v. Laurel, Friday, January 27</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>FFA Mechanics Competition – Saturday, January 28</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>FHS Winter Spirit Week – January 30 – February 4</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>WR Divisionals at Havre</li> </ul>	
• FHS Basketball v. Glendive, Friday, February 3	
• FHS Basketball v. Miles City, Saturday, February 4	
<ul> <li>STATE Wrestling in Billings, February 7-10</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>FHS Boys Basketball v. Billings Central, Friday, February 9</li> </ul>	
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
DOGGESTED ACTION, Illiorniamonal	
Additional Information Attached	
NOTES:	
NOTES.	

**Meeting Date** 

### **BOARD AGENDA ITEM**

Agenda Item No.

	3
01/09/2023	16
$\square$ Minutes/Claims $\boxtimes$ Board of Trustees $\square$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: RECOGNITION OF PARENTS, PATRONS, AND OTHERS WHO W THE BOARD ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS	ISH TO ADDRESS
Requested By: Superintendent Prepared By:	
SUMMARY:	
Time is provided on the agenda for anyone who wishes to address the Board.	
SUGGESTED ACTION: Informational	
Additional Information Attached	
NOTES:	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.				
01/09/2023	17				
$oxed{oxed}$ Minutes/Claims $oxed{oxed}$ Board of Trustees $oxed{oxed}$ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.				
ITEM TITLE: MINUTES					
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades					
SUMMARY:					
The following minutes are attached for your approval:					
<ul> <li>Minutes of the December 7, 2022, Special Board Meeting</li> <li>Minutes of the December 12, 2022 Regular Board Meeting</li> </ul>					
SUGGESTED ACTION: Approve Minutes as Presented					
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source					
NOTES:					

Board Action	Motion	Second	Aye	Nay	Abstain	Other
Bailey						
Birdwell						
Koterba						
Southworth						
Brady						
Heintz						
Fulbright						

## MINUTES LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Lincoln Board Room 215 Seventh Avenue South Lewistown, Montana 59457

### Monday, December 7, 2022

### SPECIAL BOARD MEETING

### CALL TO ORDER (5:00 P.M.)

1. ROLL CALL

TRUSTEES PRESENT:

Board Chair Doreen Heintz, Phil Koterba, Whitney Brady, CJ Bailey, Kris Birdwell, Jeff Southworth

TRUSTEES ABSENT:

Zane Fulbright

STAFF PRESENT:

Superintendent Thom Peck, Business Manager Rebekah Rhoades, Paul Bartos, Jeff Friesen, Nicole Wichman, Chris Guglielmo and other interested parties.

OTHERS PRESENT:

Lewistown News Argus, Scott Wichman, Letha Manning and other interested parties.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The group recited the Pledge of Allegiance.

### PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

4. RECOGNITION OF PARENTS, PATRONS, AND OTHERS WHO WISH TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

There was no public comment.

### EXECUTIVE SESSION - PERSONNEL MATTER #1

5. Board Chair Doreen Heintz called for an Executive Session at 5:03 p.m. regarding a personnel matter stating that the individual's right to privacy clearly exceeds the public's right to know.

Reconvened in open session at 5:05pm after Nicole Wichman waived her right to privacy.

Mr. Peck began the meeting providing video evidence of the incident that took place on November 19, 2022. Mr. Peck requested that Mrs. Wichman explain what was being said during parts of the video because it had no sound. Mr. Peck referred to the professional educators code of ethics and Board Policy 5223 on Personal Conduct, Board Policy 5255 regarding Disciplinary Action and the School District's Mission Statement. Mr. Peck expressed that the focus needs to be on the kids, not on negative choices made by adults.

Paul Bartos, FHS Assistant Principal/Activities Director, described his investigative process. He interviewed staff, employees of the Elks and others to determine what events took place, as the video was not available at that time. A meeting was held on November 29, 2022 with Mrs. Wichman. During that interview, Mrs. Wichman admitted to yelling f-you to the Principal and to pushing the HS Principal. Mr. Bartos

offered multiple options for discipline to Nicole at that meeting. He also made reference to the importance of upholding District Policy.

The Board asked questions of Mr. Bartos.

Mr. Peck stated that the delay in meeting with Mrs. Wichman was that she did not want to meet until the video could be seen. Prior, the County Attorney Kent Sipe, stated that he needed to review the video prior to its release. In the end, the video was not released by him, but obtained through other sources just before the Special Board Meeting.

Nicole Wichman and her attorney Torger Oaas were given the opportunity to speak. Torger stated that he was the person that obtained the video. He spoke to the Board and requested that the Board be fair and listen to her side of the story, as she has already been punished by being banned from all sports activities. Nicole apologized for her actions. She provided background information on her relationship with the Guglielmo's. The night of the incident she and Mr. Guglielmo had a short discussion about 8th graders playing high school basketball that got heated. Mrs. Wichman brushed him off and walked away after he made a demeaning comment about the numbers for girls' basketball. He then yelled f-you to her and she yelled it back. She felt the video was important to show that her role in the incident was minimal. She stated that consequences were provided by Mr. Bartos prior to him interviewing her and that he didn't hear her side of the story first. Mrs. Wichman admitted her role, but believes that a short suspension is appropriate.

The Board asked questions of Mrs. Wichman. Discussion regarding 8th grade participation in high school sports ensued. The Board was not aware that there was a request that the 8th grade would play high school basketball. Mr. Peck shared that it is a new MHSA rule and that it was brought to the Activities Committee in June, but determined it wouldn't be brought to the Board unless the numbers required it.

Trustee Birdwell stated that the Board is responsible for determining if there was a violation of policy and to determine the consequence. Mrs. Wichman admitted her part in the incident and believes an appropriate consequence would be a two game suspension.

### **ACTION ITEM**

6. Move to approve there was sufficient evidence to confirm Administrations allegation that there was misconduct by Nicole Wichman – Approved Unanimously by individual role call (Birdwell/Bailey)

Paul Bartos recommended that the Board make the recommendation for discipline. Trustee Birdwell thanked Mr. Bartos for his work and for taking the investigation seriously.

Move to suspend Nicole Wichman from coaching for 4 weeks starting from the date of the incident on 11/19/22 – (Birdwell/Southworth)

Mr. Friesen spoke to the Board about Nicole's character as a teacher and that this incident was uncharacteristic.

Trustee Koterba expressed his opinion that disciplinary action should be in the hands of Administration.

Jennifer Burnham stated that she believed the girls basketball team is being punished as well, if the coach is not available for practice. Trustee Brady recognized her concern, but also stated that the Board is obligated to address the misconduct.

Move to amend the motion to a 3 week coaching suspension, not a parent, starting on the date of the incident 11/19/22 and ending on 12/12/22 – (Southworth/Birdwell)

Trustee Brady requested Mr. Peck's feedback on the amended motion made. Mr. Peck stated that he agreed that the consequence is appropriate. He also requested that Nicole apologize to the girls basketball team.

Letha Manning requested that the Board use consistency in addressing other incidents with staff that took place outside of the incident at the Elks. Mr. Bartos spoke that Administration has addressed another situation. Scott Wichman expressed his agreement with Letha's comment.

The amendment to the original motion was approved unanimously.

Recess taken at 6:30pm.

The Board reconvened at 6:39pm.

### EXECUTIVE SESSION - PERSONNEL MATTER #2

7. Board Chair Doreen Heintz called for an Executive Session at 6:40 p.m. regarding a personnel matter stating that the individual's right to privacy clearly exceeds the public's right to know.

### ACTION ITEM (reconvened in open session at 8:48pm)

8. Move to approve there was sufficient evidence to confirm Administrations allegation that there was misconduct by Chris Guglielmo – Approved Unanimously (Birdwell/Bailey)

Move that Chris Guglielmo will be on unpaid leave until 12/12/22 with no work to be performed during that time, apologize to students, team and community, will receive counseling and a plan of improvement will be implemented immediately by Superintendent Thom Peck – Approved Unanimously by roll call vote (Southworth/Koterba)

### ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 8:52	2 p.m. (Bailey – unanimous).
DOREEN HEINTZ	REBEKAH RHOADES
BOARD CHAIR	BUSINESS MANAGER

## MINUTES LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS BOARD OF TRUSTEES

### LINCOLN BOARD ROOM and Via Google Meet

215 Seventh Avenue South Lewistown, Montana 59457

### MONDAY, December 12, 2022

### REGULAR BOARD MEETING

### CALL TO ORDER (6:00 p.m.)

1. ROLL CALL

TRUSTEES PRESENT:

Kris Birdwell, Whitney Brady, Zane Fulbright, Doreen Heintz,

TRUSTEES ABSENT:

CJ Bailey, Jeff Southworth, Phil Koterba

STAFF PRESENT:

Superintendent Thom Peck, Business Manager/District Clerk Rebekah Rhoades, Luke Brandon, Adrienna DeCock, Derek Lear and various others in person and via Google Meet.

### OTHERS PRESENT:

Heidi Weber – KXLO Radio, Will Briggs – Lewistown News Argus, Shane Swandal, Alec Pinero, Ellie Fulbright, Christine Solheim, Jonas Stahl and other interested parties, including via Google Meet.

- 2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
- 3. Motion to Set Agenda to Move Agenda Item #5, Followed by Agenda Item #6, then Agenda Item #4 Approved Unanimously (Birdwell/Fulbright)
- 4. Recognition Fergus High School Football Team and Coaches

Derek Lear, Head Football Coach, recognized his team and assistant coaches for their season accomplishments and winning a State Championship.

5. Recognition - Fergus High School Volleyball and Coaches

Adrienna DeCock, Head Volleyball Coach, recognized her team and assistant coaches for their season accomplishments.

6. Presentation - Ellie Fulbright, State FCCLA State Officer

Ellie Fulbright shared her experience as a State FCCLA Officer, explained the process to become a State Officer and thanked the Board for their support.

7. Report—Student Representative

Elsie Crouse, Student Representative to the Board, was not at the meeting to present, but she provided an update for Superintendent Peck to read.

8. Report – LEA

Luke Brandon, President of the Lewistown Education Association (LEA) was not available to report. He mentioned that the overloaded 2<sup>nd</sup> grade classes did receive help from the District in the form of paraprofessionals. Mr. Brandon requested the Board consider a retirement incentive at the January Board Meeting. The Board asked questions of Mr. Brandon regarding options for an incentive and the number of teachers that may be looking at retirement.

9. Report—Committees of the Board

The Music Curriculum @mmittee met on Wednesday, November 30th and

plan to have the proposed curriculum and implementation of the curriculum to the Board in January.

10. Discussion – Bond Update

Shane Swandal, Hulteng CCM, and Alec Pinero, Sletten Construction, discussed the progress of the Elementary Bond. Additional bids have been requested for various portions of the project. Shane reported that all parties are working well together. The Board asked questions regarding the Lewis & Clark Roofing Bid.

11. Calendar Items, Concerns, Correspondence, Etc.

Mr. Peck handed out the following correspondence:

- OPI Montana Fall Enrollment Numbers
- Letter of Support for "Communities That Care"
- OPI Community Events before the Legislative Session
- 20 Day Plans
- The EMT Class through the College of Great Falls will be a dual credit course at the High School
- MHSA Annual Meeting Proposals
- LPS 4-Day School Week Survey Developed by Committee Staff
  - Christine Solheim spoke to her concerns regarding a 4-day week and how the survey is distributed
- 12. Report—Election Information

Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, presented to the Board the 2023 School Election Calendar and advised them of the Trustee seats that will be up for election in 2022 – Kris Birdwell, Jeff Southworth and Doreen Heintz.

13. Report—Budget

Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, presented to the Board information regarding the 2024 Budget.

14. Report—Investment

Interest earned and distributed for November was \$872.54 for the Elementary and \$640.38 for the High School for a total of \$1,512.92. STIP Interest earned on the Elementary Bond for November 2022 was \$66,739.20.

15. Report—Superintendent

Superintendent Thom Peck reported that the District has been approached by the County to take care of their Technology services. Fall sport team GPA scores were reported. Mr. Peck has applied for the Transformational Learning and MT Advanced Opportunities Grant. Mr. Peck updated the Board on staffing throughout the District and reported representatives of the District will be attending the MSU Teacher Career Fair. The My Voice survey will be completed in February. Mr. Peck updated the Board on various events taking place in the District. Mr. Peck mentioned that approximately 20% of students were absent on Friday due to illness. Mr. Peck also reported that the school district is working with the City to obtain emergency radios that will work throughout the District. Trustee Brady requested an update on security in the District from the SRO.

### PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

16. Recognition of Parents, Patrons, and Others Who Wish to Address the Board Jonas Stahl, parent, expressed his concern to the Board regarding the doors at the High School being locked during the day and students having to walk through the elements to get to the staff door. He has spoken with the police department and paramedics regarding the issue as well. He understands the concern about safety, but would like to see a different solution.

Luke Brandon reported that there was initially pushback from the students, but he hasn't heard concerns recently. Discussion ensued regarding safety and student parking at the High School.

### **ACTION ITEMS**

### MINUTES

17. Minutes of the November 14, 2022, Regular Board Meeting
– Approved unanimously (Birdwell/Brady)

### APPROVAL OF CLAIMS

18. Claims – Approved unanimously (Brady/Birdwell)

Claims Committee for October through December 2022 is Board Chair Doreen Heintz, Whitney Brady, Zane Fulbright and Jeff Southworth. Trustee Fulbright requested follow-up regarding the food for students being purchased by counselors and Trustee Brady requested more information on the gym floor refinishing. The new Claims Committee for January through March 2023 will be Board Chair Doreen Heintz, Kris Birdwell, Whitney Brady, and CJ Bailey.

### INDIVIDUAL ITEMS

- 19. Review ESSER Re-Opening Plan
- 20. Approve Awarding Lewis & Clark Elementary Bid to Empire Roofing, Inc. for Roofing Contract Approved Unanimously (Birdwell/Fulbright)
- 21. Approve Additions to the Substitute List for the 2022-2023 School Year Approved Unanimously (Fulbright/Brady)
- 22. Approve Personnel Report with the Addition of the Acceptance of Resignation for John Jensen Approved unanimously (Fulbright/Birdwell)

### EXECUTIVE SESSION

23. Board Chair Doreen Heintz called for an Executive Session at 7:58 p.m. to conduct the Superintendent's evaluation stating that the individual's right to privacy clearly exceeds the public's right to know.

### ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 9:36 p.m (Heintz). The next regular meeting will be held at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, January 9, 2023, at the Lincoln Board Room.

DOREEN HEINTZ
BOARD CHAIR

REBEKAH RHOADES
BUSINESS MANAGER/CLERK

Meeting Date								Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023								18
⊠ Minutes/Claims [	]	Boa	ırd	of	Tr	us	tees Superintendent's Report	Action - Consent Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: CLAIM	S							
Requested By: Board	d of	f Tr	ust	ees		P	repared By: Chris Gobble	
SUMMARY:								
Approve claims p	oaic	d th	rou	ıgh	Ja	nu	ary 6, 2023, as approved by the Finance	Committee.
							Committee for January-March 2023 incl tney Brady and CJ Bailey.	ude: Board Chair, Doreen
SUGGESTED ACTION	<u>1</u> : /	Арр	rov	e C	lai	ms	as Presented	
Additional Informa	ıtio	n A	Atta	ach	ed		Estimated cost/fund source	
							NOTES:	
	Motion	Second	ye	Nay	Abstain	Other		
Board Action Bailey	Σ	Š	A	Z	A	0		
Birdwell								
Koterba Southworth	-							
Brady								
Heintz								
Fulbright								

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	19
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: APPROVE PREAPPROVAL OF ESSER PURCHASES OVER \$5	,000
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Rebekah Rhoades	
SUMMARY:  The board peeds to enpress the following purchases to be paid for out of ES	SED funda:
The board needs to approve the following purchases to be paid for out of ES	SER lunas:
Highland Park Roof Replace - \$378,436 FHS Heat Pump Project - \$348,843 Securly - \$11,000 NorthWest Evaluation (MAPS) - \$11,075 CDW-G - \$33,010 ConnectWise - \$8,717  SUGGESTED ACTION: Approve Preapproval of ESSER Purchases Over \$5,000	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	
Bailey Birdwell Koterba Southworth Brady Heintz	
Fulbright	

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	20
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☑ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: APPROVE HIGHLAND PARK ROOF BID AWARD TO EMPIRE	ROOFING
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Thom Peck	
SUMMARY:  The board needs to approve the Highland Park roof bid award to Empire Roof.	ofing.
SUGGESTED ACTION: Approve Highland Park roof bid award	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	

Board Action	Motion	Second	Aye	Nay	Abstain	Other
Bailey						
Birdwell						
Koterba						
Southworth						
Brady						
Heintz						
Fulbright						

# Cushing Terrell.

### **MEMORANDUM**

Date:

January 4, 2023

Lewistown Public Schools

To:

Attn: Jason Fry

1201 Boulder 215 7th Avenue South

Lewistown, MT 59457

From:

**Cushing Terrell** 

RE:

Award Recommendation

Lewistown - Highland Park Partial Roof Replacement Project

To whom it may concern.

The Lewistown – Highland Park Elementary School existing building roof replacement Project for the summer of 2023 was bid on January 4, 2023. The contractor that provided the school district with the lowest bid to perform the work was Empire Roofing, Inc.. Empire Roofing Inc. Reroofing bid for the Base Bid and Alternate #1 was \$12,617 lower than the next low bid.

The project Base Bid consisted of removing and replacing the existing gym roof, overlaying the existing mineral surface modified roof area. Alternate #1 roof area is over the sloped classroom space pricing is for a complete reroof over this location. The new roofing systems that are designed are a thermoplastic 60 Mil reinforced single ply roof membrane with the manufacturer to provide the district with a 20 yr. NDL (No Dollar Limit) warranty. This will provide a new roof over the school.

Cushing Terrell believes the submitted low bid falls well in line with current pricing. Cushing Terrell is also confident in Empire Roofing, Inc. ability to successfully perform the reroofing work to be in accordance with the Construction Documents.

It is Cushing Terrell's recommendation that the school district award the contract for the Base Bid Roof and Alternate #1 Replacement / Roof overlay Project, installing a new 60 Mil Single Ply Membrane for the Lewistown Public School – Highland Park Elementary School to Empire Roofing, Inc. in the amount of \$378,436.00

Please see attached official bid tabulation sheet.

Sincerely,

Patrick Todd

Associate / Roofing & Building Envelope Specialist

**Project: Highland Park Elementary School** 

Partial Roof Replacement Project Date: 1/4/2023

Location: Facility Service
Project Ref: LPS22\_HIGHLAND

Time: 10:00 AM

Red'd 10% Bid Bond	Rec'd.						
	Add Root Section Root Section Reroot				roofing Total		
Х	Х	\$	293,804.00	\$	254,888.00	\$	548,692.00
Х	Х	\$	393,000.00	\$	345,700.00	\$	738,700.00
X	X	\$	236,439.00	\$	141,997.00	\$	378,436.00
Х	Χ	\$	238,162.00	\$	152,891.00	\$	391,053.00
			\$248,080		\$171,300		\$419,380
	X	X X	X X \$	X X \$ 393,000.00  X X X \$ 236,439.00  X X \$ 238,162.00	X X \$ 393,000.00 \$  X X \$ 236,439.00 \$  X X \$ 238,162.00 \$	X X \$ 393,000.00 \$ 345,700.00  X X X \$ 236,439.00 \$ 141,997.00  X X X \$ 238,162.00 \$ 152,891.00	X X \$ 393,000.00 \$ 345,700.00 \$  X X X \$ 236,439.00 \$ 141,997.00 \$  X X X \$ 238,162.00 \$ 152,891.00 \$

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	21
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: ACTION ON OFFERING A RETIREMENT INCENTIVE	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By: Thom Peck	
SUMMARY:	
The Board of Trustees will discuss offering a retirement incentive for the	certified staff.
SUGGESTED ACTION:	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	
NOTES:	
110126.	
lion ond condition conditi	
Motion  Motion  Nay  Abstair  Other	
Board Action S O S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	
Birdwell	
Koterba	
Southworth Produ	
Brady Heintz	
Fulbright	

Meeting Date												Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023												22
☐ Minutes/Claims [	<u> </u>	Boa	ard	of	Tru	stees		Superin	tendent	t's Report	t	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: APPRO	VE	Al	DD:	ITI(	ONS	TO T	HE SU	BSTITU	TE LIST	FOR TH	E 20	22-2023 SCHOOL YEAR
Requested By: Board	l of	Tr	ust	ees	_ ]	repar	red By	: Chri	sty Roge	ers		
												<u> </u>
<b>SUMMARY</b> :												
The Board of Tru Year as listed be			nee	eds	to a	prove	the ad	dditions	to the su	bstitute lis	st for	r the 2020-2021 School
Substitute Teach Brooke Rector Jacqueline Tucke												
SUGGESTED ACTION	<u>[:</u> _	Apı	oro	ve a	<u>ddi</u>	ions to	the su	<u>ıbstitute</u>	list for t	the 2022-20	023	school year
Additional Informa	tio	n A	Att	ach	ed	Esti	mated	l cost/fu	ınd souı	rce		
								NOTE	S:			
	ion	puo			tain	.i						
Down Astion	Mot	Second	Aye	Nay	Abst							
Board Action Bailey						1						
Birdwell						1						
Koterba						4						
Southworth	<u> </u>				_	4						
Brady Heintz				$\vdash$		4						
Fulbright				$\vdash$		1						

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	23
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Sup	perintendent's Report $\square$ Action - Consent $\boxtimes$ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: APPROVE PERSONNEL REPORT	
Requested By: <u>Board of Trustees</u> Prepared By: _	Christy Rogers
SUMMARY:	
Attached is the Personnel Report for your review	7.
CHICADAMP A CONTON	
<b>SUGGESTED ACTION:</b> Approve all items	
Additional Information Attached Estimated co	ost/fund source
N	OTES:
Motion Second Ave Nay Abstain Other	
Board Action Second Ave Abstain Other	
Bailey	
Birdwell Coterba	
Southworth	
Brady Heintz	
Fulbright	

### LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS LEWISTOWN, MONTANA

### Monday January 9, 2023

EMPLOYEE NAME	POSITION	LOCATION	RECOMMENDED ACTION	EFFECTIVE DATE	RECOMMENDED BY	COMMENTS
DALLAPIAZZA, Suzanne		Lewis and Clark Elementary School	Approve appointment on schedule - BA Step 1. for up to 87 days	1/30/2023	Danny Wistzhanger	Pending a successful background check - Replacing Chad Armstrong
WICHMAN, Tahan	Tech Support Specialist		Approve appointment on scheduleTECH SUPPORT SPECIALIST - Step 0 for up to 8 hours per day for up to 124 days			Replacing John Jensen

## EXECUTIVE SESSION

As per the provisions of 2-3-203 Montana Codes Annotated.

The Board Chair, will now call for an Closed Session deeming the demands of individual privacy clearly exceed the merits of public disclosure.

All parties not involved in the Executive Session are asked to leave the Board Room at this time.

### **BOARD AGENDA ITEM**

Meeting Date	Agenda Item No.
01/09/2023	24
☐ Minutes/Claims ☐ Board of Trustees ☐ Superintendent's Report	☐ Action - Consent ☐ Action - Indiv.
ITEM TITLE: COMPLETE SUPERINTENDENT'S EVALUATION	
Requested By: Board of Trustees Prepared By:	
SUMMARY:	
The Board of Trustees will go into closed session to complete the Superinte	ndent's Evaluation.
DISCUSSION:	
Additional Information Attached Estimated cost/fund source	

NOTES:

### **LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS**

### 2022-2023 SCHOOL CALENDAR

	AUGUST 2022											
S	М	Т	W	Т	F	S						
	1	2	3	4	5	6						
7	8	9	10	11	12	13						
14	15	16	17	18	19	20						
21	22	23	24	25	26	27						
28	29	30	31									

, E	SEPTEMBER 2022										
S M		Т	w	Т	F	S					
				1 2		3					
4	5	6	7	8	9	10					
11	12	13	14	15	16	17					
18	19	20	21	22	23	24					
25	26	27	28	29	30						

	00	СТО	BER	202	22	
S	М	Т	٧	Т	F	S
						1
2	3	4	5	6	7	8
9	10	11	12	13	14	15
16	17	18	19	20	21	22
23	24	25	26	27	28	29
30	31					

1150	NOVEMBER 2022										
S	М	Т	W	Т	F	s					
		1	2	3	4	5					
6	7	8	9	10	11	12					
13	14	15	16	17	18	19					
20	21	22	23	24	25	26					
27	28	29	30								

MAS.	DECEMBER 2022										
S	М	Т	W	Т	F	s					
				1	2	3					
4	5	6	7	8	9	10					
11	12	13	14	15	16	17					
18	19	20	21	22	23	24					
25	26	27	28	29	30	31					

- 10	JANUARY 2023										
S	М	Т	W	T	F	S					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7					
8	9	10	11	12	13	14					
15	16	17	18	19 20	20	21					
22	23	24	25	26	27	28					
29	30	31									

	FEBRUARY 2023										
S	М	Т	W	T	F	S					
			1	2	3	4					
5	6	7	8	9	10	11					
12	13	14	15	16	17	18					
19	20	21	22	23	24	25					
26	27	28									

	MARCH 2023										
S	M	Т	W	Т	F	S					
			1	2	3	4					
5	6	7	8	9	10	11					
12	13	14	15	16	17	18					
19	20	21	22	23	24	25					
26	27	28	29	30	31						

10	APRIL 2023										
\$	М	Т	٧	Т	F	S					
						1					
2	3	4	5	6	7	8					
9	10	11	12	13	14	15					
16	17	18	19	20	21	22					
23	24	25	26	27	28	29					
30											

MAY 2023											
S	М	Т	W	Т	F	S					
	1 2 3 4		4	5	6						
7	8	9	10	11 18	12 19	13 20 27					
14	15	16	17								
21	22	23	24	25	26						
28	29	30	31								

1	JUNE 2023										
S	S M		W	Т	F	S					
				1	2	3					
4	5	6	7	8	9	10					
11	12	13	14	15	16	17					
18	19	20	21	22	23	24					
25	26	27	28	29	30						

Т	W	Т	F	Ş
				1
4	5	6	7	8
11	12	13	14	15
18	19	20	21	22
25	26	27	28	29
	11 18	11 12 18 19	11 12 13 18 19 20	11     12     13     14       18     19     20     21

### PIR DAYS (Pupil Instruction-Related)

HOLIDAYS & VACATIONS No School for Teachers or Students

Labor Day

August 22 August 29-30 October 20-21 **New Staff Orientation** All Staff Orientation/PIR **Staff Development Days** 

Teachers Convention (Billings)

Oct 31-Nov 11

**Parent-Teacher Conferences** Schedules vary by school

PIR November 3rd No school November 3rd-4th

March 27-31

**Parent-Teacher Conferences** Schedules vary by school

Full school days for students May 15 PIR Day

September 5 November 4

November 23-25 Dec 23 - Jan 2 February 24 April 10

Vacation Day **Thanksgiving Vacation** Winter Break Vacation Day Easter Vacation May 29 Memorial Day

**New Teacher Orientation** First/Last Day of School K-4 First Day **End of Quarter** Quarter Mid-Term End of Semester (2nd & 4th quarters) School Dismissed at 1:30 pm **FHS Graduation Day** PIR Day (No School for Students) Vacation Day (Day Off/No School) Paid Holiday (Day Off/No School) Fiex Day (No School for Students)

Board Approved 3/14/2022

### LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 2022-2023 SCHOOL CALENDAR

	First Semester				88 days	Second Semester				91 days
	FIRST QUARTER				DAYS	THIRD QUARTER				DAYS
	First Week	Aug 31	to	Sept 2	3	First Week	Jan 23	to	Jan 27	5
	Second Week	Sept 6	to	Sept 9	4	Second Week	Jan 30	to	Feb 3	5
ŝ	Third Week	Sept 12	to	Sept 16	5	Third Week	Feb 6	to	Feb 10	5
¥	Fourth Week	Sept 19	to	Sept 23	5	Fourth Week	Feb 13	to	Feb 17	5
ā	Fifth Week	Sept 26	to	Sept 30	5	Fifth Week	Feb 20	to	Feb 23	4
FLEX DAYS)	Sixth Week	Oct 3	to	Oct 7	5	Sixth Week	Feb 27	to	March 3	5
	Seventh Week	Oct 10	to	Oct 14	5	Seventh Week	March 6	to	March 10	5
ž	Eighth Week	Oct 17	to	Oct 19	3	Eighth Week	March 13	to	March 17	5
9	Ninth Week	Oct 24	to	Oct 28	5	Ninth Week	March 20	to	March 24	5
호					40					44
INSTRUCTION (INCLUDING	SECOND QUARTER				DAYS	FOURTH QUARTER				DAYS
ō	First Week	Oct 31	to	Nov 2	3	First Week	March 27	to	March 31	5
빎	Second Week	Nov 7	to	Nov 11	5	Second Week	April 3	to	April 7	5
ğ١	Third Week	Nov 14	to	Nov 18	5	Third Week	April 11	to	April 14	4
Ĕ	Fourth Week	Nov 21	to	Nov 22	2	Fourth Week	April 17	to	April 21	5
Ş	Fifth Week	Nov 28	to	Dec 2	5	Fifth Week	April 24	to	April 28	5
Ħ	Sixth Week	Dec 5	to	Dec 9	5	Sixth Week	May 1	to	May 5	5
PUPIL	Seventh Week	Dec 12	to	Dec 16	5	Seventh Week	May 8	to	May 12	5
3	Eighth Week	Dec 19	to	Dec 22	4	Eighth Week	May 16	to	May 19	4
	Ninth Week	Jan 3	to	Jan 6	4	Ninth Week	May 22	to	May 26	5
	Tenth Week	Jan 9	to	Jan 13	5	Tenth Week	May 30	to	June 2	4
	Eleventh Week	Jan 16	to	Jan 20	5					47
					48					
									Total Day	s 179

3	August 22	New Staff Orientation	
5 (P	August 29-30	All Staff Orientation/PIR	2.0
DAY!	October 20-21	Staff Development Days Teachers Convention	2.0
IL INSTRUCTION-RELATED DAYS (PIR	Oct 31-Nov 11	Parent-Teacher Conferences Schedules vary by school No school November 3rd & 4th	1.5
ON-RE	March 27-31	Parent-Teacher Conferences Schedules vary by school Full school days for students	.5
E	May 15	PIR Day	1.0
J.		Floating PIR Day	<u>1,0</u>
NSI			8.0
PIL I			

sive	5
nclu	S
tes l	N
eQ	ַ
NS	F
፩	l A
A	N
DAYS & VACATIONS	J
<b>U</b>	
rs &	
<b>JLIDAY</b>	
7.10	
오	

Dates Inclusive	September 5	Labor Day
	November 4	Vacation Day
	November 23-25	Thanksgiving Vacation
	Dec 23-Jan 2	Winter Break
& VACATIONS	February 24	Vacation Day
	April 10	Easter Vacation
A	May 29	Memorial Day
AC	July 4	Vacation Day (12-mo employees)
>		
0 '		
HOLIDAYS		
9		